
AGENDA 
 

KANSAS RACING AND GAMING COMMISSION 
9:00 am, Friday, November 16, 2012 

 

11.16.12  Agenda - Page 1 

City Hall 
City Commission Chambers 

806 North 2nd Avenue 
Dodge City, Kansas

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

B. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
1. Minutes of October 12, 2012 

D. CONSENT AGENDA 
Items listed on the consent agenda are routine in nature.  If requested by a commissioner, an item 
may be removed from the Consent Agenda and placed under Commission Items for further 
discussion and consideration. 

1. Approvals and revocations for certain lottery facility games and related components 
a. GLI approvals/revocations 

2. Internal control amendment approvals 
a. Boot Hill internal control amendment approvals 
b. Kansas Star internal control amendment approvals 
c. Hollywood internal control amendment approvals 

3. Final KHA Reimbursement from Kansas Bred Program 
a. Staff Memo 

E. LOTTERY GAMING FACILITY REPORTS/ITEMS 

1. Boot Hill Casino and Resort 
a. Monthly Report 
b. October 2012 Gaming Revenue Report 

2. Kansas Star Casino 
a. Monthly Report 
b. October 2012 Gaming Revenue Report 

3. Hollywood Casino at Kansas Speedway 
a. Monthly Report 
b. October 2012 Gaming Revenue Report 

 
 



 

11.16.12  Agenda - Page 2 

F. COMMISSION ITEMS  

1. Junket issues update 
  Commission Action: Commission review and discussion 
  Staff Presentation: Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director 
  Staff Recommendation: Commission review and discussion 

a. Staff Memo 
b. Motorcoach Safety Report 

G. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

H. STAFF REPORTS 
1. Executive Director 

a. Voluntary Exclusion Report 

I. EXECUTIVE SESSIONS 
The Commission conducts executive sessions in accordance with the Kansas Open Meetings Act and 
all discussions are limited to the specified purposes listed in K.S.A. 75-4319.  The Commission utilizes 
executive sessions to consult with the Commission’s attorney, to discuss personnel matters, to 
protect the confidentiality of necessarily closed information, and to protect the integrity of gaming 
and finances. 
1. Attorney-Client Privilege 
2. Personnel 
3. Background reports 

J. OTHER BUSINESS/FURTHER COMMISSION ACTION 

1. Consideration of proposed gaming licenses and renewals 

K. ADJOURNMENT 



 
KANSAS RACING AND GAMING COMMISSION 

 
MINUTES – OCTOBER 12, 2012 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
(A.) 

 Chairman Jay Shadwick called the October 12, 2012, meeting to 
order at 10:00 am at 700 SW Harrison, Auditorium B, Suite 460, 
Topeka, Kansas. In addition to Chairman Shadwick, Commissioners 
Timothy Shultz, Dennis McKinney, and R. Eileen King were present 
at the meeting.  Others present included Executive Director Richard 
Petersen-Klein, Director of Security Don Brownlee; Director of 
Administration/Finance Kathy Lewis; General Counsel Judith 
Taylor; Director of Information Technology Bill Smith; recording 
secretary Linda Pendarvis and other staff.   

   
MOTION, APPROVE 
AMENDED AGENDA: 
(B.) 

 Commissioner Shultz (King) moved to approve the agenda as 
amended.  Motion passed unanimously. 

   
MOTION, APPROVE  
SEPTEMBER 14, 2012, 
MEETING MINUTES: 
(C.) 

 Commissioner King (Shultz) moved to approve the minutes of the 
September 14, 2012 as presented.  Motion passed unanimously.   

   
MOTION, APPROVE 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
(D.) 

 Commissioner Shultz (McKinney) moved to approve the consent 
agenda as submitted.   Motion passed unanimously. 

   
LOTTERY GAMING 
FACILITY 
REPORTS/ITEMS; BOOT 
HILL: 
(E.1.) 

 Sharon Stroburg, General Manager of the Boot Hill Casino and 
Resort, reported that: 

• September revenue was approximately 5% under last year and 
approximately 20% under budget. 

• Revenue is down due to the discontinuation of the motor 
coach program. 

• Year-to-date they are 3.5% over budget. 
• The breezeway construction continues and should be 

completed by the end of the month. 
   
LOTTERY GAMING 
FACILITY 
REPORTS/ITEMS; 
KANSAS STAR 
(E.2.) 

 Scott Cooper, General Manager for the Kansas Star Casino, reported 
that: 

• They are two months from opening up their expansion. 
• Hiring related to the expansion is in progress. 
• Hotel was scheduled to open around October 15th but has 

been moved back to October 24th, give or take a few days. 
• September revenue: 

o Coin-in was down as was slot win compared to 
August, however September hold was up slightly. 

o Table games drop was down compared to August and 
win was up with hold over 20%. 

o Poker room revenue was down compared to August. 

C.1. (1 of 4)



Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission 
October 12, 2012  
Page 2 

• September admissions were down almost 10% from August. 
   
LOTTERY GAMING 
FACILITY 
REPORTS/ITEMS; 
HOLLYWOOD: 
(E.3.) 

 Aaron Rosenthal, Assistant General Manager for the Hollywood 
Casino at the Kansas Speedway, reported that: 

• September revenue was down 1.7% compared to August. 
• Market share was slightly up compared to August. 
• There is a vacancy in the Director of Security position and 

applications are now being accepted. 
• Bob Sheldon accepted the Kansas Corporation of the Year 

Award from the Kansas Office of Minority and Women 
Development. 

• The 2nd Annual Hollywood Casino 400 festivities will start 
the week of October 15th, which will also include the second 
race of the year. 

   
PRESENTATION OF  
QUARTERLY REPORTS 
ON STAFF OUT-OF-
STATE-TRAVEL, 
LICENSING AND ILLEGAL 
GAMBLING: 
(F.1.) 
 

 Mr. Petersen-Klein presented the quarterly reports on staff out-of-
state travel, licensing, and illegal gambling. 

   
DISCUSSION;  
 “JUNKET SERVICES” 
PROPONENTS AND 
OPPONENTS OF 
CURRENT REGULATION: 
(F.2.) 

 On October 5, KRGC issued a notice to all state and local agencies, 
lottery gaming facility managers, casino tour bus operators and other 
interested parties that it would take written and oral testimony at the 
October 12 meeting whether to amend the rules and regulations 
related to the licensing of persons providing junket services to lottery 
gaming facilities (casinos).  Interested parties were invited to provide 
testimony.  Sixteen individuals submitted written testimony, which 
was distributed to the commission.  The following individuals 
presented oral testimony: 
           Speaking on behalf of less regulation: 

• Keith Kocher, Director of Gaming Facilities, Kansas Lottery, 
(speaking in favor of less regulation, if possible); 

• Ken Strobel, City Manager, Dodge City, Kansas; 
• Sharon Stroburg, General Manager, Boot Hill Casino; 
• Aaron Rosenthal, Asst. General Manager, Hollywood Casino; 
• Scott Cooper, General Manager, Kansas Star Casino. 

Speaking on behalf of existing regulation: 
• Don Brownlee, Director of Security, KRGC; 
• Judith Taylor, General Counsel, KRGC; 
• Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director, KRGC. 

   
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
(G.) 

 Chairman Shadwick solicited comments from the public.  There were 
none. 

   

C.1. (2 of 4)



Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission 
October 12, 2012  
Page 3 
   
STAFF REPORT, 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR: 
(H.1.) 

 Mr. Petersen-Klein reported that: 
• The KRGC, by agreement with the Kansas Lottery, postponed 

publishing the revenue reports for September until after the 
Kansas Lottery’s monthly meeting. 

• The November 16th commission meeting will be held in 
Dodge City. 

   
STAFF REPORT, 
RESPONSIBLE 
GAMBLING 
COORDINATOR: 
(H.2.) 

 The Commission heard from Carol Spiker, Responsible Gambling 
Coordinator, who presented the voluntary exclusion report. 
 

   
EXECUTIVE SESSIONS: 
(I.1.-2.) 

 Chairman Shadwick announced that the Commission would move to 
executive session for background checks and attorney-client privilege 
discussions.  Those included in the executive session were the 
commissioners, except Commissioner King, executive director, legal 
counsel and director of security.  The combined time for the 
executive session was anticipated to be two hours, from 12:35 p.m. to 
2:35 p.m., preceded by a 15 minute break.  The meeting will 
reconvene at 2:35 p.m.  No action is to be taken in executive session, 
and the subjects discussed are to be limited as previously described.  
A full record of this motion is to be maintained as a part of the 
permanent record of the Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission.  
At the conclusion of the executive session, the meeting is to be 
continued in open session. 

   
RECONVENE:  The commission meeting reconvened at 2:35 p.m. with all members 

present as noted above. 
   
MOTION REGARDING 
LICENSES: 
(J.1.) 

 Commissioner Shultz (McKinney) moved to deny three applicants 
from today’s list of background reports referred to the commission 
for action and to conditionally approve one other from the list.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

   
MOTION TO 
CONDITIONALLY 
APPROVE: 
(J.1.) 

 Commissioner Shultz (McKinney) moved to extend Butler National’s 
conditional license approval for another 60 days, to provide 
additional time for their accounting consulting firm to produce its 
final accounting report.  If the final report is not produced within 60 
days, Butler National is ordered to appear at the December 
commission meeting to show cause why their license renewal should 
not be denied.  Motion passed unanimously. 

   
MOTION TO APPROVE 
LICENSES: 
(J.1.) 

 Commissioner Shultz (McKinney) moved to approve the other 141 
license applications from today’s list of license applications.  Motion 
passed unanimously. 

   

C.1. (3 of 4)



Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission 
October 12, 2012  
Page 4 
   
ADJOURNMENT: 
(K.) 

 Commissioner Shultz (McKinney) moved to adjourn at 2:38 p.m.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

   
   
   
SUBMITTED BY:   
   
   

   
R. Eileen King   
Secretary   
   
   
APPROVED BY:   
   
   

   
Jay T. Shadwick   
Chair   
   
   
   
   
   
 

C.1. (4 of 4)



Manufacturer File Number ID Number Version Game Name

1 AC SLOTS PA‐253‐ACS‐11‐01 PSA‐66‐ST2RU GURUSAGE3 N/A

2 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐10‐106 HARDWARE N/A N/A

3 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐43 1.03‐61640 GEN7WS More Chilli

4 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐43 1.04‐61496 GEN7WS More Hearts

5 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐32 6NY270008221 2.70/2.21 MEI BILL VALIDATOR F

6 ARISTOCRAT MO‐73‐ARI‐12‐79 1.04‐61707 GEN7WS Queen of the Nile Le

7 ARISTOCRAT MO‐73‐ARI‐12‐57 Linux Operating Syst 3.05.5 N/A

8 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐23 Hyperlink.exe 3.0.0.0 N/A

9 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐32 HARDWARE SCN66 MEI SC ADVANCE BILL

10 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐43 3.53.0‐1.54.7 GEN7WS N/A

11 ARISTOCRAT MO‐22‐ARI‐12‐43 HARDWARE GEN7WS N/A

12 ATRONIC MO‐73‐ATR‐12‐21 Game.African_Riches_ 1.0.0.7 AFRICAN RICHES

13 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐112 301502A A BEAT THE HEAT

14 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐122 301724B 301724B CRYSTAL FOX

15 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐118 301748B B ANCIENT PYRAMIDS

16 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐118 301748B 301748B ANCIENT PYRAMIDS

17 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐120 228663A 228663A GOLDEN BANJO ‐ COMMO

18 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐121 301723B B MAJESTIC STAG

19 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐122 301724B B CRYSTAL FOX

20 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐122 301724B link_301724B CRYSTAL FOX

21 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐131 301714A 301714A BALLOON FESTIVAL

22 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐127 301882A A WINNER WINNER CHICKE

23 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐127 301882A 301882A WINNER WINNER CHICKE

24 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐118 301748B link_301748B ANCIENT PYRAMIDS

25 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐115 301664B B SORCERER'S GOLD

26 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐116 227580B 227580B CONTROL LOGIC

27 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐116 227605B 227605B CHOCO CHOCO ‐ COMMON

28 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐115 301664B 301664B SORCERER'S GOLD

29 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐115 301664B link_301664B SORCERER'S GOLD

30 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐121 301723B 301723B MAJESTIC STAG

31 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐121 301723B link_301723B MAJESTIC STAG

32 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐127 301882A link_301882A WINNER WINNER CHICKE

33 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐131 301714A A BALLOON FESTIVAL

Recommended for Approval

34 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐12‐131 301714A link_301714A BALLOON FESTIVAL

35 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐177 GI014‐004KS7‐B003 AVP INSTALL Boingy Beans Bean to

36 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐177 GAME014‐004KS7‐B03 AVP GAME PACKAGE Boingy Beans Bean to

37 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐177 GI014‐004KS7‐B003.V0 AVP INSTALL Boingy Beans Bean to

38 IGT MO‐10‐IGT‐12‐09 SIGN1146 WHEEL OF FORTUNE BIG Wheel of Fortune Big

39 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐152 GAME014‐001GI9‐D05 AVP GAME PACKAGE Double Super Times P

40 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐152 GI014‐001GI9‐D005.V0 AVP INSTALL Double Super Times P

41 IGT MO‐15‐IGT‐12‐05 SIGN1151 N/A Spin Fever Poker Ove

42 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐119 FI014‐DG‐PKR008‐01 AVP INSTALL Extra Draw Frenzy Po

43 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐119 AF014‐DG‐PKR008‐01 AVP GAME PACKAGE Extra Draw Frenzy Po

44 IGT MO‐73‐IGT‐09‐99 GC014‐004EU9‐0001 AVP INSTALL TEN TIMES PAY

45 IGT MO‐73‐IGT‐09‐99 GCon014‐004EU9‐001 AVP CONTENT PKG TEN TIMES PAY

46 IGT MO‐73‐IGT‐09‐99 GC014‐004EU9‐0001.V0 AVP INSTALL SERVER BASED TEN TIM

47 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 N6028F 1.22 008 2.21 Bill Validator Firmw

48 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62559090 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,STD

49 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62559190 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,UPS

50 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62559290 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,LG

51 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62559390 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,UPS

52 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62562890 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,LG

53 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62562990 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,UPS

54 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62563090 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,STD

55 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐169 HARDWARE 62563190 B/A‐MEI,SCN,66MM,UPS

56 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐199 BFRD0027 AVP AVP / AVP STEPPER Bl

57 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐158 GI014‐002JO6‐G003 AVP INSTALL REEL EDGE Blood Life

58 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐158 GAME014‐002JO6‐G03 AVP GAME PACKAGE REEL EDGE Blood Life

59 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐153 GI014‐005PE8‐E001 AVP INSTALL West Journey Treasur

60 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐153 GAME014‐005PE8‐E01 AVP GAME PACKAGE West Journey Treasur

61 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐154 GI014‐005IG4‐E001.V0 AVP INSTALL Diamonds of Athens

62 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐153 GI014‐005PE8‐E001.V0 AVP INSTALL West Journey Treasur

63 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐154 GI014‐005IG4‐E001 AVP INSTALL Diamonds of Athens

64 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐154 GAME014‐005IG4‐E01 AVP GAME PACKAGE Diamonds of Athens

65 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐130 GI014‐001MF7‐D001 AVP INSTALL Four Card Power Keno

66 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐130 GAME014‐001MF7‐D01 AVP GAME PACKAGE Four Card Power Keno

67 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐132 BFDB0012 N/A REEL EDGE Blood Life

68 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐132 HARDWARE 699733xxW N/A

69 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐137 GI014‐002JF5‐E001 N/A 7 Leagues Under The/ g

70 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐137 GAME014‐002JF5‐E01 N/A 7 Leagues Under The
D.1.a. (1 of 3)



71 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐137 GI014‐002JF5‐E001.V0 N/A 7 Leagues Under The

72 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐12‐152 GI014‐001GI9‐D005 AVP INSTALL Double Super Times P

73 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐46 HARDWARE N/A N/A

74 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐73‐KON‐12‐13 BSBV100G12 GAME PROGRAM Broadside Bounty

75 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐73‐KON‐12‐13 BSBV100G12 GAME PROGRAM Broadside Bounty

76 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐73‐KON‐12‐13 BSBV100G12‐CF SOUND/GRAPHICS Broadside Bounty

77 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐73‐KON‐12‐17 INSV100G12 GAME PROGRAM Incan Spirit

78 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐73‐KON‐12‐17 INSV100G12 GAME PROGRAM Incan Spirit

79 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐73‐KON‐12‐17 INSV100G12‐CF SOUND/GRAPHICS Incan Spirit

80 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 HARDWARE 331034(A) N/A

81 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 HARDWARE 331035(A) N/A

82 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 HARDWARE 331024(A) N/A

83 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 HARDWARE 331023(A) N/A

84 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 KGI_LLPSYSP007XX K3 JPC PLATFORM Fortune Chaser

85 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 KGI_LWPKP3P002XX Windows MBR Fortune Chaser

86 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 KGI_LWPSYSP006XX Windows OS Fortune Chaser

87 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 KGI_L530XLP008XX PROGRESSIVE Fortune Chaser

88 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐30 KGI_LWPGCMP007XX Game Common Fortune Chaser

89 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐52 MYTC103G12 GAME PROGRAM Mystical Temple

90 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐52 MYTC103G12‐CF SOUND/GRAPHICS Mystical Temple

91 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐66 KGI_LWPGCMV022XX GAME COMMON N/A

92 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐63‐KON‐12‐32 CHSV101G12 GAME PROGRAM China Shores

93 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐63‐KON‐12‐32 CHSV101G12 GAME PROGRAM China Shores

94 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐63‐KON‐12‐32 CHSV101G12‐CF SOUND/GRAPHICS China Shores

95 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐61 PLAV164G18 N/A N/A

96 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐61 PLAV164G18 N/A N/A

97 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐61 PLAV164G18 N/A N/A

98 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐48 KGI_L533XLD006XX GAME PROGRAM Treasure Voyage

99 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐37 KGI_L531XLA007XX GAME PROGRAM Queen's Shores

100 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐38 KGI_L507XLA007XX GAME PROGRAM China Shores

101 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐47 KGI_L532XLD006XX GAME PROGRAM Jumpin' Jalapenos

102 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐31 KGI_LWPGCMM015XX Game Common Fortune Chaser

103 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐34 KGI_L523XXB008XX GAME PROGRAM Full Moon Diamond

104 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐35 KGI_L530XSP005XX PROGRESSIVE Fortune Chaser

105 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐36 KGI_L542XXB008XX GAME PROGRAM Fairy Blossom

106 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐66 D0A4988‐00 9.26.111.23.3 M11m_EasyGrandBlue_1_ y _

107 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐66 D0A4988‐27 9.26.111.23.3 M11m_EasyGrandBlue_1

108 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐67 D0A4989‐00 9.26.111.23.1 M11m_EasyGrandRed_1L

109 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐67 D0A4989‐27 9.26.111.23.1 M11m_EasyGrandRed_1L

110 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐68 D0A4990‐00 9.26.111.23.1 M11m_EasyGrandPurple

111 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐68 D0A4990‐27 9.26.111.23.1 M11m_EasyGrandPurple

112 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐69 D0A4991‐00 9.26.111.23.1 M11m_EasyGrandGreen_

113 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐69 D0A4991‐27 9.26.111.23.1 M11m_EasyGrandGreen_

114 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐56 OSA5086‐01 Rev 90 M11‐VV233703‐90

115 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐76 D0A5075‐00 9.26.111.29.2 M11_WildRainforestAm

116 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐76 D0A5075‐27 9.26.111.29.2 M11_WildRainforestAm

117 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐72 D0A5002‐00 9.26.111.23.5 M11_OnTheHouse_40L20

118 MULTIMEDIA GAMES MO‐171‐MMG‐12‐72 D0A5002‐27 9.26.111.23.5 M11_OnTheHouse_40L20

119 SDS SY‐22‐SDS‐12‐05 iVIEW 3 HARDWARE N/A N/A

120 SPIELO MO‐73‐SPE‐12‐15 Game.JabberWocky.Fie 1.1.27.6 JABBERWOCKY

121 SPIELO MO‐73‐SPE‐11‐39 Game.JungleReels.Fie 1.0.23.0 JUNGLE REELS

122 SPIELO MO‐73‐SPE‐12‐10 HARDWARE 2417135‐01 Top Door Switch Harn

123 SPIELO MO‐73‐SPE‐12‐25 HARDWARE B00BAM0450006 N/A

124 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐124 HARDWARE A‐1100894‐XX N/A

125 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐177 D7C2‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 GOTHEL

126 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐138 D6FA‐000‐1000C9 1000 H13.33 Great Tutankhamen's

127 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐142 D85A‐000‐1010 1010 H13.33 GIANT'S GOLD

128 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐143 D8A0‐000‐1010 1010 H13.33 COLOSSAL WIZARDS

129 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐160 SSSG‐000‐16B8 16B8 H13.37 OPERATING SYSTEM SOF

130 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐161 D7BF‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 RAPUNZEL

131 WMS MO‐209‐WMS‐12‐12 S95D‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 THE GODFATHER

132 WMS MO‐209‐WMS‐12‐12 HARDWARE 75267 THE GODFATHER

133 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐175 D7C4‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 GOTHEL

134 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐191 S6C1‐000‐1010 1010 H13.37 MY POKER‐WINNING STR

135 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐144 D6C6‐000‐1010D4 1010 H13.21 EGYPTIAN RICHES

136 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐145 D7A0‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 NEPTUNE'S QUEST

137 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐146 D6C8‐000‐1010D4 1010 H13.21 HOT HOT 777'S

138 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐157 D75F‐000‐1010C9 1010 H13.33 MYSTICAL BAYOU

139 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐147 D79F‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 DEAN MARTINS POOL PA

140 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐148 D7F7‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 FIRE QUEEN

141 WMS MO‐22‐WMS‐12‐149 D7F6‐000‐1000 1000 H13.35 GREAT OWL

D.1.a. (2 of 3)



Manufacturer File Number ID Number Version Game Name Remove/Replace by:

1 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐08‐88 AVGGZWD017UI‐01 N/A GRIZZLY WILD January 5, 2013

2 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐08‐125 AVGARTR017UI‐00 N/A ARCTIC TREASURES January 5, 2013

3 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐08‐113 AVGRVWD017UI‐00 N/A RIVER WILD January 5, 2013

4 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐08‐101 AVGGLWD017UI‐00 N/A GLACIER WILD January 5, 2013

5 BALLY MO‐73‐BAL‐08‐100 AVGFTWD017UI‐00 N/A FOREST WILD January 5, 2013

6 BALLY MO‐22‐BAL‐09‐04 AVGJGTR017UI‐00 N/A JUNGLE TREASURES January 5, 2013

7 BALLY MO‐22‐BAL‐08‐23 AVGSHTR017UI‐00 N/A SAVANNAH TREASURES January 5, 2013

8 BALLY MO‐122‐BAL‐08‐05 AVGPFTR017UI‐00 N/A Pacific Treasures January 5, 2013

9 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐11‐204 GI014‐004KS7‐B001.V0 AVP INSTALL Boingy Beans Bean to January 5, 2013

10 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐11‐204 GI014‐004KS7‐B001 AVP INSTALL Boingy Beans Bean to January 5, 2013

11 IGT MO‐22‐IGT‐11‐204 GAME014‐004KS7‐B01 AVP GAME PACKAGE Boingy Beans Bean to January 5, 2013

12 KONAMI GAMING INC. PA‐22‐KON‐11‐02 LWPGCMV009XX GAME COMMON N/A January 5, 2013

13 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐44 KGI_LWPGCMV021XX GAME COMMON N/A January 5, 2013

14 KONAMI GAMING INC. MO‐22‐KON‐12‐05 KGI_LWPGCMV018XX GAME COMMON N/A January 5, 2013

Recommend for Revocation

D.1.a. (3 of 3)



 
 Phone:  (785) 296-5800 
Eisenhower State Office Building Fax:  (785) 296-0900 
700 SW Harrison, Suite 500 krgc@krgc.ks.gov 
Topeka, KS  66603 krgc.ks.gov 

 
Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director Sam Brownback, Governor 
 

 

 
 

Boot Hill Casino Internal Control Amendments 
 

November 16, 2012 
 

 

Item #/ (Description) Regulation 
Waiver? Regulation/IC Reference Staff  

Recommendation 

BH304 –Responsible Gambling Plan No 
KAR 112-111-1; KAR 112-
112-1, IC 180.002-020; IC 
300.002-30; IC 810.002-100 

Approval 

BH305 – Drop-Count-Cage Jobs & 
Organizational Charts No KAR 112-104-2; IC 700.060; 

IC 700.080; IC 700.090 Approval 

 

D.2.a. (1 of 1)



 
 Phone:  (785) 296-5800 
Eisenhower State Office Building Fax:  (785) 296-0900 
700 SW Harrison, Suite 500 krgc@krgc.ks.gov 
Topeka, KS  66603 krgc.ks.gov 

 
Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director Sam Brownback, Governor 
 

 

 
 

Kansas Star Casino Internal Control Amendments 
 

November 16, 2012 
 

 
Item #/ (Description) Regulation 

Waiver? 
Regulation/IC Reference Staff 

Recommendation 
KS67 Daily Reports No KAR 112-104-7, Acct-13 Approval 
KS68 Comp Signature No KAR 112-104-9, Admin-11(3) Approval 
KS77 Add to Guest Comp List No KAR 112-104-9, Admin-11 Approval 
KS83 Correct Names for Cage No KAR 112-107-16, Cage-8 Approval 
KS91 Non-Gaming Position 
Descriptions 

No KAR 112-104-2, Acct-1, Acct-2(E)-Lead 
Revenue Auditor, Admin-2-2b, Non-Gaming 
Job Descriptions –HR Coordinator, HR 
Assistant, Maintenance 

Approval 

KS92 Poker Cashier No KAR 112-104-2, KAR 112-104-36, TG-
Organizational Chart, TG-Job Descriptions-
(J) Poker Cashier, Sec-3 Access List 

Approval 

KS93 Non-Gaming Position 
Descriptions 

No KAR 112-104-2, Admin-2-2, Admin-2-2a, 
Admin-2-2b Organizational Chart, Admin-3 
Mandatory Positions, Non-Gaming Job 
Descriptions 

Approval 

KS94 Promotion Matrix No KAR 112-107-27, Slot-11(H)(3) Approval 
KS105 Midi Baccarat Rules of 
the Game 

No Table Games Rules Approval 
 

KS106 Drop Schedule and 
Security 

No KAR 112-104-18, Casino Accounting, 
Section 11 

Approval 

KS109 Marketing Positions and 
Organization Chart 

No KAR 112-104-2, Section 5 Marketing 
Positions and Organizational Chart 

Approval 

KS110 Accounting and Admin 
Org Charts 

No KAR 112-104-2(a), Accounting 1, Admin 2 Approval 

KS111 Reporting Lines Change No KAR 112-104-2, Admin 1, Admin 3 Approval 
KS112 Dealer Tips No 112-108-26, Tips(A)(4) Approval 
 

D.2.b. (1 of 1)



 
 Phone:  (785) 296-5800 
Eisenhower State Office Building Fax:  (785) 296-0900 
700 SW Harrison, Suite 500 krgc@krgc.ks.gov 
Topeka, KS  66603 krgc.ks.gov 

 
Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director Sam Brownback, Governor 
 

 

 
 

Hollywood Casino Internal Control Amendments 
 

November 16, 2012 
 

 
Item #/ (Description) Regulation 

Waiver? 
Regulation/IC Reference Staff 

Recommendation 
HW24 Job Title Name Change No Job Descriptions Approval 
 

D.2.c. (1 of 1)



D.3.a. (1 of 3)



D.3.a. (2 of 3)



D.3.a. (3 of 3)



 
 

BOOTHILL CASINO & RESORT 
REPORT PRESENTED TO 

THE KANSAS RACING AND GAMING COMMISSION 
NOVEMBER 16, 2012 

 
BY: SHARON STROBURG 

 
1) October came in approximately 4.5% under last year’s revenue and approximately 20% 

under budget.  We attribute this to a reduction in the number of buses versus last year 
(Sept/Oct/Nov 2011 accounted for the largest number of buses in a 3 month period).  The 
property is now about ½ percent behind budgeted revenue for FY2013. 
 

2) Breezeway construction, connecting BHCR and United Wireless Arena, is progressing, 
estimated completion this month (there have been some hold-ups in construction, 
however only flooring and some landscaping left to be completed. 
 

E.1.a. (1 of 1)



 
 Phone:  (785) 296-5800 
Eisenhower State Office Building Fax:  (785) 296-0900 
700 SW Harrison, Suite 500 krgc@krgc.ks.gov 
Topeka, KS  66603 krgc.ks.gov 

 
Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director Sam Brownback, Governor 
 

 

                                         
 

BOOT HILL CASINO & RESORT 
 

Lottery Gaming Facility Revenue-Unaudited* 
 
 

  
October 

 
October 

 
Fiscal YTD 

 
Fiscal YTD 

  
2012 

 
2011 

 
2013 

 
2012 

         
Electronic gaming machines 

 

      
2,939,945.15  

 

         
3,029,331.72  

 
12,385,027.51 

 

    
12,404,326.26  

         
Table games 

 

          
538,654.50  

 

            
543,124.00  

 
2,382,651.00 

 

      
2,207,697.00  

         
Other # 

 

              
2,426.61  

 
- 

 

                 
5,514.05  

 

              
2,107.02  

         Total Lottery Gaming Facility 
Revenue 

 

      
3,481,026.26  

 

         
3,572,455.72  

 

      
14,773,192.56  

 

    
14,614,130.28  

         
State Share 22% 

 

          
765,825.78  

 

            
785,940.26  

 

         
3,250,102.36  

 

      
3,215,108.66  

         
Local Share 3% 

 

          
104,430.79  

 

            
107,173.67  

 

            
443,195.78  

 

          
438,423.91  

         
Problem Gambling Share 2% 

 

            
69,620.53  

 

              
71,449.11  

 

            
295,463.85  

 

          
292,282.61  

         
Casino Share 73% 

 

      
2,541,149.17  

 

         
2,607,892.68  

 

      
10,784,430.57  

 

    
10,668,315.10  

 
 
 
*Unaudited-as reported by the Kansas Lottery Central Computer system. 

 #Other sweeps, principally lost and found funds. 
 
 

E.1.b. (1 of 1)



KANSAS STAR CASINO 
REPORT PRESENTED TO  

THE KANSAS RACING AND GAMING COMMISSION 
November 16, 2012 

 

BY: SCOTT COOPER – GENERAL MANAGER 

 

Construction Update  

• The hotel is now open. 
• To date, the KS Star has awarded 89% of its sub-contracts to KS contractors. 
• Parking lots all completed. 
• Exterior signage is completed showing our food outlets. Will work with KSL & 

Gtech to wire Keno equipment at cottonwood bar Thursday. 
• Casino floor 90% completed other than SE entry area, glass in that area is 80%. 
• FF&E install started today in all areas, art work, furniture, mirrors, etc. 

October Revenue #’s 

• Slot Coin-In (Handle) up 2.6% from September. 
• Slot Win up 4.1% from September. October hold 8.7% same as September. 
• Table Game drop down 5% from September. 
• Table Game Win down 13% from September. Hold 19.7% vs. 21.2% in 

September. 
• Poker Room avg. revenue up 3.2% from September.  

Operational Notes 

• October admissions 14% higher than September.  
• Hiring for 1B is on schedule. We have identified 313 (89%) of our expected hired 

for our expansion phase. 
• New slot machines tested by KL and KRGC by 11-12. 
• EDR is now open. 
• Boyd transition is on schedule: chips, cards, dice.  
• Other than a few equipment issues BOH kitchens are 99% complete. 
• Slot signage install begins 11/5/12, TV’s will start to move from 1A floor this 

week.  

 

E.2.a. (1 of 1)



 
 Phone:  (785) 296-5800 
Eisenhower State Office Building Fax:  (785) 296-0900 
700 SW Harrison, Suite 500 krgc@krgc.ks.gov 
Topeka, KS  66603 krgc.ks.gov 

 
Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director Sam Brownback, Governor 
 

 

                
KANSAS STAR CASINO & RESORT 

 
Lottery Gaming Facility Revenue-Unaudited* 

 
          

  
October 

   
Fiscal YTD 

  
2012 

   
2013 

       
Electronic gaming machines 

 

    
12,855,053.29  

   
51,986,938.87 

       
Table games 

 

      
1,895,563.26  

   
7,987,198.48 

       Other # 
 

- 
   

- 

       
Total Lottery Gaming Facility Revenue 

 

    
14,750,616.55  

   

     
59,974,137.35  

       
State Share 22% 

 

      
3,245,135.64  

   

     
13,194,310.22  

       
Local Share 3% 

 

          
442,518.50  

   

        
1,799,224.12  

       
Problem Gambling Share 2% 

 

          
295,012.33  

   

        
1,199,482.75  

       
Casino Share 73% 

 

    
10,767,950.08  

   

     
43,781,120.27  

 
 
 
*Unaudited-as reported by the Kansas Lottery Central Computer system. 

         #Other sweeps, principally lost and found funds. 
 

E.2.b. (1 of 1)



HOLLYWOOD CASINO AT KANSAS SPEEDWAY 
REPORT PRESENTED TO 

THE KANSAS RACING AND GAMING COMMISSION 
NOVEMBER 16, 2012 

 
BY: BOB SHELDON – VICE-PRESIDENT & GENERAL MANAGER 

 
 

Gaming revenue in the month of October was $9.6 million which was an increase of 2% over the 
previous month of September. Visitor volume also increased 6% from last month.  While there 
was one more day this month, the calendar was more favorable in September which had five 
Saturdays, five Sundays and the Labor Day Holiday weekend, vs. four Saturdays and Sundays in 
October. 
 
Our efforts to drive casino visitation by promoting the variety of restaurant offerings available 
continues.  In October we began our new “all you can eat” Lobster Buffet on Wednesday nights, 
which has received very positive reviews. The October NASCAR weekend was a success with 
the running of The Hollywood Casino 400 Sprint Cup race, along with the Nationwide Series 
Kansas Lottery 300 and the Friday night ARCA race and rock concert.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.3.a. (1 of 1)



 
 Phone:  (785) 296-5800 
Eisenhower State Office Building Fax:  (785) 296-0900 
700 SW Harrison, Suite 500 krgc@krgc.ks.gov 
Topeka, KS  66603 krgc.ks.gov 

 
Richard Petersen-Klein, Executive Director Sam Brownback, Governor 
 

 

                
                

HOLLYWOOD CASINO & RESORT 
 

Lottery Gaming Facility Revenue-Unaudited* 
 
 

  
October 

   
Fiscal YTD 

  
2012 

   
2013 

       
Electronic gaming machines 

 

      
7,818,297.04  

   
31,881,257.24 

       
Table games 

 

      
1,845,008.73  

   
6,776,842.77 

       Other # 
 

- 
   

- 

       
Total Lottery Gaming Facility Revenue 

 

      
9,663,305.77  

   

     
38,658,100.01  

       
State Share 22% 

 

      
2,125,927.27  

   

        
8,504,782.00  

       
Local Share 3% 

 

          
289,899.17  

   

        
1,159,743.00  

       
Problem Gambling Share 2% 

 

          
193,266.12  

   

           
773,162.00  

       
Casino Share 73% 

 

      
7,054,213.21  

   

     
28,220,413.01  

 
 
 
 
*Unaudited-as reported by the Kansas Lottery Central Computer system. 

 #Other sweeps, principally lost and found funds. 
 

E.3.b. (1 of 1)



	
Kansas	Racing	and	Gaming	Commission	

700	SW	Harrison,	Suite	500,	Topeka,	Kansas	66603	
(785)	296‐5800,	Fax	(785)	296‐0900	

	
 

   

STAFF AGENDA MEMORANDUM 

DATE OF MEETING:  November 16, 2012 

AGENDA ITEM:  Junket Issues Update 

PRESENTER:    Richard Petersen‐Klein, Executive Director 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  The Commission requested at the last Commission meeting that staff obtain 
additional statistical information related to motorcoach safety and specific information related 
to motorcoach  operators  providing  transportation  services  to  Kansas  casinos.    Additionally, 
certain  staff  testimony  related  to  the  motorcoach  issue  caused  a  lottery  gaming  facility’s 
accounting  consultant  confusion, and  the  facility’s  counsel has  requested  clarification on  the 
record of KRGC’s use of the term “agent”.  

  The  statistical  information  provided  was  obtained  from  the  Kansas  Corporation 
Commission’s  Transportation  Division.    The  information  includes  a  National  Transportation 
Safety Board Special Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety  (see attached), which provides a 
review of motorcoach operations and  indicates  that motorcoach operators  related  to casinos 
tend to have more accidents, and driver and equipment violations than the industry as a whole.  
The  KCC  also  provided  the  KRGC with  information  related  to  known motorcoach  operators 
providing junket services to Kansas casinos operating state‐owned games, which revealed that 
of the known eight operators to date only two had active federal and/or KCC  licenses, one of 
which was subsequently cancelled due to loss of insurance.  The Kansas statistics also indicate 
that  the number of bus crashes  in Kansas have  steadily  increased  from 93  in 2006  to 122  in 
2009, which is the most recent data available. 

  Legal counsel for the owner of a lottery gaming enterprise has requested clarification of 
KRGC’s use of the term “agent”  in KRGC testimony, provided at the October 12th commission 
meeting on the topic of junket services regulation, for the benefit of its accounting consultant.  
KRGC used the term “agent” in testimony to provide a simplified explanation of the relationship 
Kansas  has  with  lottery  gaming  facility  managers  for  the  benefit  of  those  readers  of  the 
testimony  who  were  new  to,  or  not  familiar  with,  the  Kansas  gaming  environment.    The 
testimony  was  not  intended  to  be  used  by  any  accounting  professional  to  determine  the 
appropriate  accounting  method  to  employ  in  accounting  for  a  Lottery  Gaming  Enterprise.  
KRGC’s testimony was taken out of context and in no way provided any opinion on whether the 
State of Kansas views any lottery gaming facility manager or owner as an agent in terms of the 
proper accounting principles that should be employed by a  lottery gaming facility manager to 
account for the entire lottery gaming facility enterprise or for any segment of the enterprise. 

 

F.1.a. (1 of 2)



Staff Agenda Memorandum  November 16, 2012  Page 2 

Agenda Item Name     

COMMISSION ACTION REQUIRED/REQUESTED:  Commission review and discussion.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS:  Staff recommends commission review and discussion. 

F.1.a. (2 of 2)



 

 

Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special Report 
NTSB/SR-11/01 
PB2011-917002 

 
 
  

National 
Transportation 
Safety Board 



 

 



 

 
 

NTSB/SR-11/01 
PB2011-917002 

Notation 8350 
Adopted October 12, 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Special Report 
Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

National 
Transportation 
Safety Board 

 490 L’Enfant Plaza, S.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20594 

 



 

 
 

National Transportation Safety Board. 2011. Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety. Special Report 
NTSB/SR-11/01. Washington, DC. 
 
Abstract: Motorcoach safety has received increased public attention after several serious 
accidents during 2011, some of which involved curbside carriers. As a result, the National 
Transportation Safety Board conducted an investigation of motorcoach safety with a focus on 
curbside operations. This report (1) describes the characteristics of the curbside business model 
among interstate motorcoach carriers; (2) describes the safety record of interstate motorcoach 
carriers, including those that use a curbside business model; and (3) evaluates the adequacy of 
safety oversight for interstate motorcoach carriers using a curbside business model. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The National Transportation Safety Board is an independent Federal agency dedicated to promoting aviation, 
railroad, highway, marine, pipeline, and hazardous materials safety. Established in 1967, the agency is mandated by 
Congress through the Independent Safety Board Act of 1974 to investigate transportation accidents, determine the 
probable causes of the accidents, issue safety recommendations, study transportation safety issues, and evaluate the 
safety effectiveness of government agencies involved in transportation. The Safety Board makes public its actions 
and decisions through accident reports, safety studies, special investigation reports, safety recommendations, and 
statistical reviews. 
 
Recent publications are available in their entirety on the Internet at <http://www.ntsb.gov>. Other information about 
available publications also may be obtained from the website or by contacting: 
 
National Transportation Safety Board 
Records Management Division, CIO-40 
490 L’Enfant Plaza, SW 
Washington, DC 20594 
(800) 877-6799 or (202) 314-6551 
 
Safety Board publications may be purchased, by individual copy or by subscription, from the National Technical 
Information Service. To purchase this publication, order report number PB2011-917002 from: 
 
National Technical Information Service 
5301 Shawnee Road 
Alexandria, Virginia 22312 
(800) 553-6847 or (703) 605-6000 
<http://www.ntis.gov> 
 
The Independent Safety Board Act, as codified at 49 U.S.C. Section 1154(b), precludes the admission into evidence 
or use of Board reports related to an incident or accident in a civil action for damages resulting from a matter 
mentioned in the report. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

iii 

Contents 
Contents ........................................................................................................................................ iii 

Figures .............................................................................................................................................v 

Tables ..............................................................................................................................................v 

Abbreviations and Definitions ................................................................................................... vii 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... ix 

Chapter 1: Introduction ................................................................................................................1 
Background ......................................................................................................................................1 
Description of Curbside Operations.................................................................................................2 
Objectives ........................................................................................................................................5 
Methodology ....................................................................................................................................6 

Literature Review .....................................................................................................................6 
Data Analyses ...........................................................................................................................6 
Development of Curbside Operators List .................................................................................6 
Focus Groups of Motorcoach Inspectors, Safety Investigators, and Drivers ...........................7 
Meeting With Curbside Motorcoach Operator .........................................................................8 
Compliance Reviews and Motorcoach Inspections ..................................................................8 
Meetings With Industry Associations .......................................................................................8 

Investigation Limitations .................................................................................................................8 
Identification of Interstate Curbside Motorcoach Carriers .......................................................8 
Data Analyses ...........................................................................................................................9 
Focus Groups ..........................................................................................................................10 

Chapter 2: Motorcoach Operational Characteristics ...............................................................11 
Motorcoach Travel Data ................................................................................................................11 
Motorcoach Leasing and Brokers ..................................................................................................12 

Leasing ....................................................................................................................................12 
Brokers ....................................................................................................................................13 

Motorcoach and Bus Accident Information ...................................................................................15 
Research on Accidents ............................................................................................................15 
Previous NTSB Motorcoach Accident Investigations and Safety Recommendations ...........17 

Chapter 3: Regulatory Requirements and Oversight Procedures ..........................................18 
Responsibilities of Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration .................................................18 

Compliance, Safety, and Accountability Program .................................................................18 
Evaluation of Compliance, Safety, and Accountability Operational Model ..........................22 
Compliance Reviews ..............................................................................................................22 
New Entrant Safety Assurance Program ................................................................................24 
Funding for State Oversight of Interstate Motor Carriers ......................................................26 
Voluntary Safety Reporting System .......................................................................................27 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

iv 

Chapter 4: Motorcoach Transportation Safety Data Analyses ...............................................29 
Methods..........................................................................................................................................29 

Qualitative Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Type of Service .......................29 
Quantitative Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Accident and  

Inspection History ......................................................................................................................32 
Analysis Results .............................................................................................................................35 

Characteristics of Motorcoach Carriers ..................................................................................35 
New Entrant Safety Assurance Program ................................................................................36 
Accident History of Motorcoach Carriers, January 2005 to December 2010 ........................36 

Inspection History of Motorcoach Carriers, April 2009 to March 2011 .......................................37 
Compliance Reviews and Safety Audits, January 2007 to April 2011 ...................................38 

Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Accident and Inspection History ......................40 
Operational Characteristics of Motorcoach Carriers With Substandard  

Accident and Inspection History .........................................................................................41 
Comparison of Accident, Inspection, and Violation Rates by Service Type .........................43 

Chapter 5: Curbside Motorcoach Transportation Qualitative Findings ...............................49 
Motorcoach Driver Fatigue ............................................................................................................50 
Concerns Identified by State Inspectors and Federal Safety Investigators ....................................51 
Safety Concerns Discussed by Motorcoach Drivers ......................................................................55 
Speeding and Motorcoach Safety ..................................................................................................55 
English Proficiency ........................................................................................................................56 

Chapter 6: Conclusions ...............................................................................................................58 
Findings..........................................................................................................................................59 

 

 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

v 

Figures 
Figure 1 Wreckage of Motorcoach Involved in Bronx, New York, Accident. .........................2 

Figure 2a Distribution of Commercial Motor Carriers, Passenger Carriers, Motorcoach 
Carriers, and Curbside Carriers. ................................................................................31 

Figure 2b Distribution of Power Units Operated by Commercial Motor Carriers,  
Passenger Carriers, Motorcoach Carriers, and Curbside Carriers. ...........................32 

Figure 3 Locations of U.S. Motorcoach Carriers by Service Type. ........................................35 

Figure 4 Distribution of Carriers by Number of Motorcoaches and Service Type. ................36 

Figure 5 Number of Roadside Inspections by Inspection Level and Service Type, 
 January 2005 to March 2011....................................................................................38 

Figure 6 Distribution of Compliance Review Ratings for Motorcoach Carriers,  
January 2007 to April 2011.......................................................................................38 

Figure 7 Percent of Motorcoach Carriers Receiving Federal or State Oversight,  
January 2007 to April 2011.......................................................................................40 

Figure 8 Percent of Inspected Drivers and Vehicles Linked With More Than  
One Carrier................................................................................................................43 

Figure 9 Average Rates for Overall Accidents, Injury and Fatal Accidents, Deaths,  
and Injured Persons by Service Type, January 2005 to March 2011........................45 

Figure 10 Average Violation Rates and Out-of-Service Violation Rates by  
Service Type, April 2009 to March 2011. ................................................................46 

Figure 11 Distribution of Accidents, January 2005 to March 2011. .........................................47 

Figure 12 Distribution of Driver Fitness Violations and Out-of-Service Orders Associated  
With English Language Deficiencies. ..........................................................................57 

 

Tables 
Table 1 Behavior Analysis Safety Improvement Categories. ................................................19 

Table 2 Roadside Driver and Vehicle Inspections. ................................................................20 

Table 3 Compliance Review Ratings. ....................................................................................24 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

vi 

Table 4 Interstate Motor Carrier Inspection Personnel During 2011.....................................27 

Table 5 Variables Developed From Accident and Inspection Data. ......................................33 

Table 6 Seven Violation Categories Used in Detailed Analyses. ..........................................34 

Table 7 Motorcoach Carriers in Business for 10 Years of Less. ...........................................36 

Table 8 Number of Accidents, Deaths, and Injured Persons Involving  
Motorcoach Carriers. ................................................................................................37 

Table 9 Number of Motorcoach Carrier Inspections by Service Type,  
April 2009 to March 2011.........................................................................................37 

Table 10 Compliance Reviews for Motorcoach Carriers With More Than  
18 Months in Business, January 2007 to April 2011. ...............................................39 

Table 11 Number of Motorcoach Carriers by Principal Component Analysis  
Category and 90th Percentile Analysis Results. .......................................................41 

Table 12 Number of Carriers With Up to 10 Motorcoaches and Up to 10 Years  
in Business. ...............................................................................................................41 

Table 13 Accident, Inspection, and Violation Rates by Type of Service. ...............................42 

Table 14 Percent of Inspected Drivers and Vehicles Linked With More Than  
One Company. ..........................................................................................................43 

 

 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

vii 

Abbreviations and Definitions 

BASIC Behavior Analysis Safety Improvement Category 

CDL commercial driver’s license 

CFR Code of Federal Regulations 

CMV commercial motor vehicle 

CSA compliance, safety, and accountability 

DOT Department of Transportation 

FARS Fatality Analysis Reporting System 

FHWA Federal Highway Administration 

FMCSA Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration 

FMCSR Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations 

HOS hours of service 

MCMIS Motor Carrier Management Information System  

MCSAP Motor Carrier Safety Assistance Program 

NTSB National Transportation Safety Board 

OOS out of service 

PCA principal component analysis 

SMS Safety Measurement System 

UMTRI University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute 

 

  



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

viii 

Broker (also known as bus broker)—passenger transportation intermediaries (entities or 
businesses) that arrange bus or motorcoach transportation between a client and a passenger 
motor carrier for a fee. Unlike brokers that facilitate the transportation of property, bus brokers 
are not required to register with or obtain operating authority from the FMCSA because they do 
not fall under the legal jurisdiction of the DOT. 

Bus—a vehicle with seating for 9 or more occupants, including the driver (except for 
personal passenger vehicles), and all vehicles that are designed to transport 16 or more people. 

Charter operations—passenger transportation service for which an individual or an 
organization, such as a tour or social group or sports team, contracts with a commercial 
passenger carrier. A typical charter trip is customized individually and does not involve 
fixed-route scheduled service. 

Conventional motorcoach operations—interstate motorcoach carriers that provide 
scheduled service from one terminal to another terminal. 

Curbside motorcoach operations—a business model in which interstate motorcoach 
carriers conduct scheduled trips from one city to another city or a destination and originate or 
terminate at a location other than a traditional bus terminal; most of these operations pick up or 
discharge passengers at one or more curbside locations (such as sidewalks or parking lots). 

Motorcoach—a bus that measures at least 35 feet in length and has seating for 30 or 
more passengers on an elevated passenger deck over a baggage compartment, with integral 
construction designed for long-distance passenger transportation. 

 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

ix 

Executive Summary 
Motorcoach safety has received increased public attention as a result of multiple serious 

accidents during 2011. The most serious of these accidents occurred on March 12, 2011, in the 
Bronx borough of New York City. In that accident, a 1999 Prevost motorcoach, operated by 
World Wide Travel of Greater New York, was traveling along Interstate 95 when it departed the 
interstate to the right, crossed over an 11-foot shoulder into a roadside barrier, and rolled onto its 
side. The front of the motorcoach then collided with the support pole for an overhead 
cantilevered highway sign. Of the 33 occupants aboard the bus, 15 were fatally injured, and 18 
received injuries ranging from serious to minor. World Wide Travel was operating a curbside 
service, making 14 roundtrips daily between the Mohegan Sun Casino in Uncasville, 
Connecticut, and New York City. 

The National Transportation Safety Board conducted an investigation of motorcoach 
safety with a focus on scheduled interstate curbside operations. The objectives of this 
investigation were to (1) describe the characteristics of the curbside business model among 
interstate motorcoach carriers; (2) describe the safety record of interstate motorcoach carriers, 
including those that use a curbside business model; and (3) evaluate the adequacy of safety 
oversight for motorcoach carriers using a scheduled curbside business model. 

No formal definition of curbside carriers exists, and federal and state oversight authorities 
have no unique categorization and tracking mechanism for these carriers. For the purpose of this 
investigation, curbside motorcoach operations are those in which interstate motorcoach carriers 
conduct scheduled trips from one city to another city or a destination and originate or terminate 
at a location other than a traditional bus terminal; most of these operations pick up or discharge 
passengers at one or more curbside locations. 

The analyses conducted during this investigation accurately depict the results from the 
comparisons of the various motorcoach carriers defined in this report based on the data available 
from the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA). This investigation could not 
account for uncertainty associated with the identification of curbside carriers or for missing or 
inaccurate data from FMCSA data sources. Applying these results to different groups of 
motorcoach carriers would require additional categorization of the motorcoach carrier groups 
and new analyses. 

Of the 4,172 active interstate motorcoach carriers operating in the United States, 71 
were identified as scheduled motorcoach carriers providing curbside service. Although 
accidents among all types of interstate motorcoach carriers (including those applying the 
curbside business model) are infrequent, curbside carriers have higher fatal accident and death 
rates and higher out-of-service rates resulting from driver violations (specifically, fatigued 
driving and driver fitness violations) compared with conventional carriers. Curbside carriers 
also have higher driver fitness violation rates and out-of-service rates, and they are 
overrepresented in driver logbook violations. The safety record of individual curbside carriers 
varies, with some carriers having very good safety records and others having worse safety 
records. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

x 

In addition, the oversight for this segment of the motorcoach industry has several 
challenges. FMCSA and state investigators are overburdened by the number of inspections and 
compliance reviews that need to be accomplished to properly assess a motor carrier’s safety 
performance due to the large number of motor carriers that the investigators have to oversee in 
addition to motorcoach carriers. The prohibition of routine en route inspections, the minimal 
requirements for obtaining new operating authority, the inconsistent enforcement of the 
requirement to submit mileage and other essential information to the FMCSA, and language 
barriers all indicate that oversight of curbside carriers is more challenging than that for other 
segments of the motorcoach industry. 

 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

1 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

Background 

Motorcoach safety has received increased public attention as a result of multiple serious 
accidents during 2011.1 Motorcoach occupants died in at least eight fatal accidents from January 
to July 2011.2

The most serious of these accidents occurred on March 12, 2011, in the Bronx borough of 
New York City. In that accident, a 1999 Prevost motorcoach, operated by World Wide Travel of 
Greater New York, crashed about 5:37 a.m. along Interstate 95. The motorcoach had departed 
from the Mohegan Sun Casino in Uncasville, Connecticut, about 3:48 a.m. and was returning to 
New York City when it departed the interstate to the right, crossed over an 11-foot shoulder into 
a roadside barrier, and rolled onto its side. The front of the motorcoach then collided with the 
support pole for an overhead cantilevered highway sign, as shown in figure 1. Of the 
33 occupants aboard the motorcoach, 15 were fatally injured, and 18 received injuries ranging 
from serious to minor.

 Since March 2011, the National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB) has initiated 
investigations for two motorcoach accidents and has been investigating select issues in three 
other accidents. These five accidents resulted in 22 fatalities and 159 injuries. 

3 The NTSB is considering all potential factors in its investigation of this 
accident, including passenger carrier characteristics, driver performance, vehicle characteristics, 
the roadway environment, and the effectiveness of state and federal oversight of passenger 
carriers.4

                                                 
1 The Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) provided the following definition of a 

motorcoach in its July 2009 Motorcoach Fire Safety Analysis Report: “a motorcoach is a bus with integral 
construction designed for long-distance passenger transportation. It measures at least 35 feet long and can seat 30 or 
more passengers on an elevated passenger deck over a baggage compartment.” For more information, see 
<

 

http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/facts-research/research-technology/analysis/Motorcoach-Fire-Study.pdf> (accessed 
October 2, 2011). 

2 Six of the eight motorcoach accidents occurred along the northeast corridor.  
3 Title 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 830.2 defines a fatal injury as any injury that results in death 

within 30 days of an accident. The regulations define a serious injury as an injury that (1) requires hospitalization for 
more than 48 hours, beginning within 7 days of the date of injury; (2) results in a fracture of any bone (except simple 
fractures of the fingers, toes, or nose); (3) causes severe hemorrhages or nerve, muscle, or tendon damage; (4) 
involves any internal organ; or (5) involves second- or third-degree burns or any burn affecting more than 5 percent 
of the body surface. The motorcoach driver survived the accident with minor injuries.  

4 For information about the NTSB’s investigation of this accident, see case number HWY11MH005 on the 
NTSB’s website at <http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms.html>.  

http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/facts-research/research-technology/analysis/Motorcoach-Fire-Study.pdf�
http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms.html�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

2 

 

Figure 1. Wreckage of Motorcoach Involved in Bronx, New York, Accident. Source: New York 
State Police. 

World Wide Travel began operating in Brooklyn, New York, in 1989, providing charter 
trips, tours, and line runs (that is, fixed routes with fixed schedules).5

Description of Curbside Operations 

 The company, under 
contract with Mohegan Sun Casinos, made 14 roundtrips daily between the casino and 
New York City. World Wide Travel is considered to be a carrier providing curbside service. For 
the purpose of this investigation, curbside motorcoach operations consist of scheduled trips from 
one city to another city or destination and originate or terminate at a location other than a 
traditional bus terminal; most of these operations pick up or discharge passengers at one or more 
curbside locations. 

The term “curbside operations” represents a business model (that is, the means by which 
motorcoach service is provided) rather than a category of motorcoach carrier. In fact, no formal 
definition of curbside carriers exists, and federal and state oversight authorities have no unique 

                                                 
5 Line runs can be conducted between fixed terminals, or passengers can be picked up and dropped off at 

roadside locations. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

3 

categorization and tracking mechanism for curbside carriers. As a result, these carriers are 
tracked and regulated as part of the entire commercial motor carrier population. 

Most motorcoach carriers that engage in curbside operations provide other services, 
including charter operations6 for private groups.7 Some curbside motorcoach carriers also 
provide service from one bus terminal to another, scheduled commuter bus service, and shuttle 
service to airports. Curbside motorcoach operators typically pick up passengers from sidewalks 
or parking lots,8 travel directly from one metropolitan area to another or to a popular destination, 
and serve heavily traveled routes; such operations typically do not use terminals with indoor 
waiting rooms at departure or destination points.9

Although curbside motorcoach carriers adopt a similar business model, they vary greatly 
in other characteristics. Some carriers operate a large fleet of motorcoaches throughout the 
United States, whereas others have a fleet of only a few buses that operate in local regions. 
Driver training practices differ, with some curbside carriers providing multiweek training 
programs and others using a less formal driver instruction process. Safety oversight practices 
also differ, with some curbside carriers having safety quality assurance programs that incorporate 
sophisticated real-time motorcoach monitoring, random driver observations, and safety event 
trending; in contrast, other curbside carriers have no formal safety programs or processes. The 
safety record of individual curbside carriers varies, with some carriers having very good safety 
records and others having worse safety records. 

 Established motorcoach carriers, which have 
been in operation for many years, have also adopted the curbside business model due to 
competitive economic pressure. 

Curbside motorcoach operations began as an inexpensive means of travel between 
New York City and Boston primarily for low-income Chinese workers.10 Curbside operations 
subsequently became popular among college students and customers with higher incomes who 
took advantage of the convenience and low prices.11 For example, during 2002, curbside 
motorcoach carriers traveling from Chinatown in New York to Chinatown in Washington, D.C., 
charged as little as $10 each way, whereas traditional motorcoach carriers were charging about 
$80 for the same trip.12

                                                 
6 For charter operations, an individual or an organization contracts with an interstate motorcoach operator to 

provide service between two points. Charter trips typically involve tour or social groups or sports teams. 

 

7 2011 Membership Survey and Industry Assessment (Alexandria, Virginia: United Motorcoach Association). 
8 Pickup and dropoff locations are subject to change depending on parking availability and city regulations. 
9 (a) R. O’Toole, Intercity Buses: The Forgotten Mode, Policy Analysis No. 680 (Washington, DC: Cato 

Institute, June 29, 2011). (b) What is the Chinatown Bus?, Chinatown-Bus.org <http://www.chinatown-bus.org/> 
(accessed September 21, 2011). 

10 J. Chen, “Brief History of Chinatown Bus,” GotoBus.com, 2011 <http://www.gotobus.com/chinatownbus/ 
history/> (accessed September 21, 2011). 

11 (a) N.J. Klein, “Emergent Curbside Intercity Bus Industry: Chinatown and Beyond,” Transportation 
Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, issue 2111 (2009), pp. 83–89. (b) N.J. Klein, The 
Impacts of Low-Cost Buses on the Transit Industry, Final Report (New Brunswick, New Jersey: Transportation 
Coordinating Council/Federal Transit Administration Research Program, Rutgers University, 2010). 

12 (a) M. Barbaro, “D.C. to New York for $10. Seriously. Thrifty Travelers Discover a Gem in Chinatown Bus 
Lines,” The Washington Post, December 1, 2002, p. A1. (b) S. Weinstein, “Cheap East Coast Services,” 2002 
<http://www.sethweinstein.com/travel/boston/index.shtml> (accessed September 21, 2011). 

http://www.chinatown-bus.org/�
http://www.gotobus.com/chinatownbus/history/�
http://www.gotobus.com/chinatownbus/history/�
http://www.sethweinstein.com/travel/boston/index.shtml�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

4 

Currently, one-way curbside fares can be as low as $1 to $5 for those buying seats weeks 
in advance,13 and the fares typically do not exceed $30.14 Curbside operators carefully choose 
the routes, days of week, and times of the day that are most popular with travelers to ensure that 
seats will be filled. To continue to expand their customer base, curbside operators have been 
offering more amenities for passengers, including wireless Internet services, electrical outlets, 
reclining seats, seat belts, movies, and more spacious compartments.15

Along the northeast corridor, curbside operations have attracted customers (who would 
otherwise have taken trains to their destination) partly because curbside fares are far lower than 
rail fares and curbside carriers operate more frequently. Amtrak may charge more than $250 for 
a weekend round trip from Washington, D.C., to New York City, whereas curbside carriers 
typically charge $40 to $50 for the same round trip. Curbside operations have also attracted 
customers who had previously flown from one city to another but are deterred by rising airfares 
and the longer travel times that result from increased airport security procedures. Rising gasoline 
prices and toll charges have likely played some role in the increased popularity of curbside 
operations because the cost of traveling by passenger vehicle is often higher than the cost of 
traveling by bus for some routes. 

 These operators have also 
expanded service to the suburbs of large cities. 

Curbside service includes intercity operations in high population areas. Intercity 
motorcoach service has been described as the fastest growing mode of transportation during the 
past few years.16 After years of declining ridership from 1960 to 2005, annual growth rates for 
intercity motorcoach service ranged from 5.1 to 9.8 percent between 2006 and 2010.17

Although most motorcoach carriers with curbside operations are relatively small 
businesses, large companies, such as Coach USA and Greyhound, began curbside operations in 
2006 and 2008, respectively. As of August 2011, Greyhound and Peter Pan’s joint curbside 
operation, BoltBus, specialized in travel along the northeast corridor, serving locations including 
Boston, New York City; Newark (New Jersey), Philadelphia, and Washington, D.C. 
Coach USA’s curbside operation, Megabus, served the midwest, northeast, and south. Megabus 
has introduced double-decker buses, which can transport 81 passengers compared with 45 to 
57 passengers on typical motorcoaches. In July 2011, Megabus announced that it was expanding 

 

                                                 
13 Some curbside bus operators use a yield management system in which the first seats sold are the least 

expensive, and then seats become more expensive as the time of the trip grows closer. 
14 Megabus.com, “Megabus.com Offers 100,000 Free Seats to Stimulate Travel in 2010,” press release, 

December 8, 2009. 
15 (a) “Changes You’ll Love, Love, Love!,” DC2NY.com, 2011 <http://www.dc2ny.com/pages/changes.aspx> 

(accessed September 21, 2011). (b) This information was obtained from the Megabus.com website, 
<http://us.megabus.com/Default.aspx> (accessed September 21, 2011). (c) R. O’Toole. 

16 For the purpose of this investigation, intercity operations are interstate buses that transport passengers from 
one city to another city or a popular destination.  

17 J.P. Schwieterman and L. Fischer, The Intercity Bus: America’s Fastest Growing Transportation Mode: 2010 
Update on Scheduled Bus Service (Chicago: Chaddick Institute for Metropolitan Development, DePaul University, 
December 20, 2010). 

http://www.dc2ny.com/pages/changes.aspx�
http://us.megabus.com/Default.aspx�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

5 

service to 60 North American cities and that it had served 10 million customers.18 New curbside 
services could be economically viable in other areas of the United States.19

One important point to note is that conventional motorcoach carriers providing scheduled 
service from one terminal to another terminal have lowered their fares so that they are 
comparable with those charged by curbside carriers. (As with curbside carriers, these fares are 
lowest when purchased weeks in advance.) Consequently, the term “low-cost carrier” is no 
longer meaningful because conventional and curbside motorcoach carriers charge similar fares. 

 

Objectives 

The NTSB conducted an investigation of motorcoach safety with a focus on scheduled 
interstate curbside operations. The objectives of this investigation were to (1) describe the 
characteristics of the curbside business model among scheduled interstate motorcoach carriers; 
(2) describe the safety record of interstate motorcoach carriers, including those that use a 
curbside business model; and (3) evaluate the adequacy of safety oversight for interstate 
motorcoach carriers using a curbside business model. This report presents the NTSB’s findings 
in these areas and the information and data on which the findings were based.20

Oversight of interstate motor carriers, including the transportation of passengers, is the 
responsibility of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA), which is part of the 
Department of Transportation (DOT). The FMCSA is headquartered in Washington, D.C., and 
employs more than 1,000 people in all 50 states and the District of Columbia.

 

21 FMCSA 
regulations and oversight of interstate motorcoach operations are the same regardless of the 
business model applied by the motorcoach operator. The National Highway Traffic Safety 
Administration (NHTSA), which is also part of the DOT, has safety responsibilities related to 
motorcoach design.22

                                                 
18 Megabus.com, “Megabus.Com Reaches 10 Million Customers,” press release, July 18, 2011. 

 Although the FMCSA and NHTSA perform separate but complementary 
roles in ensuring motorcoach safety, this report focused on the functions of the FMCSA in 
overseeing the safety of interstate curbside motorcoach operators. As part of this report, the 
NTSB reviewed the FMCSA’s current and proposed oversight program improvements, 
interviewed FMCSA management and staff, and analyzed FMCSA motor carrier safety 
performance and management data to assess the challenges that the FMCSA faces in carrying out 
its motorcoach oversight efforts. 

19 J.P. Schwieterman and L. Fischer. 
20 Along with this report, the NTSB issued an executive report that focuses primarily on those issues that 

pertain only to curbside operations. For more information, see Executive Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety, 
Safety Report NTSB/SR-11/02 (Washington, DC: National Transportation Safety Board, 2011). 

21 This information was obtained from the FMCSA website, <http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/what-we-
do/mission/mission.htm> (accessed September 21, 2011). 

22 For more information, see <http://www.nhtsa.gov/> (accessed October 5, 2011). 

http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/what-we-do/mission/mission.htm�
http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/what-we-do/mission/mission.htm�
http://www.nhtsa.gov/�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

6 

Methodology 

• A multifaceted approach was used to collect data and information to evaluate each of 
the objectives of this investigation (which were mentioned previously), including the 
following: 

• a review of relevant literature on motorcoach safety, regulatory requirements, and 
oversight procedures as they pertain to curbside carriers; 

• an analysis of accident, inspection, and compliance review23

• development of a nationwide list of scheduled interstate motorcoach carriers that 
conduct curbside operations; 

 data and retrospective 
data analyses of the safety performance of interstate motorcoach operators; 

• focus groups with state motor carrier inspectors and FMCSA safety investigators and 
supplemental focus groups with motorcoach drivers; 

• visits to interstate motorcoach operators that use the curbside business model; 

• observations of motorcoach operator compliance reviews and motorcoach 
inspections; and 

• discussions with motorcoach industry associations. 

The FMCSA facilitated access to relevant data and personnel, which was essential during 
data-gathering and research activities for this investigation. 

Literature Review 

Information was gathered from a search of Transportation Research International 
Documentation (a combined national and international database of transportation articles), 
federal and state government agency websites, and other sources. 

Data Analyses 

The FMCSA’s data portal provided integrated access to various databases that were used 
for the analyses in this report. Also, FMCSA staff provided the NTSB with extracts from internal 
databases that are not accessible via the portal. 

Development of Curbside Operators List 

A key element of this investigation was to develop an accurate list of scheduled 
motorcoach operators using a curbside business model (either full or part time)24

                                                 
23 A compliance review is an on-site examination of a motor carrier’s operation to determine the carrier’s 

compliance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations (FMCSRs) and evaluate the carrier’s management 
controls. Additional information about compliance reviews is discussed in chapter 3.  

 because no 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

7 

publicly available list of such carriers existed. The NTSB used a three-step procedure to 
complete this task. First, passenger carriers with at least one motorcoach in their fleets and 
authorization to provide interstate “for-hire” or “for-hire and private” operation were identified 
as a motorcoach carrier. Second, a list of motorcoach carriers providing scheduled interstate 
regular route service was compiled. Third, with the use of online ticket booking services, such as 
GotoBus.com, carriers that provided scheduled service were categorized into two groups: those 
offering curbside service and those not known to offer curbside service, referred to as 
conventional carriers in this report.25

Focus Groups of Motorcoach Inspectors, Safety Investigators, and Drivers 

 

To learn about the methods and challenges of the front line personnel who perform direct 
oversight of passenger motorcoach carriers, the NTSB conducted two focus groups on 
June 13, 2011, at the central New Jersey office of the FMCSA.26

The first focus group consisted of nine state personnel from two New Jersey law 
enforcement agencies who conduct roadside inspections and some compliance reviews of 
interstate motorcoach carriers. The supervisors of several state inspectors observed the first focus 
group. The second focus group consisted of 12 FMCSA safety investigators based in 
New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania who conduct compliance reviews. FMCSA 
supervisory personnel also participated in this focus group. Topics of interest for the focus group 
discussions included curbside motorcoach inspection procedures, curbside carrier inspection 
selection protocols, inspector training, typical curbside motorcoach carrier inspection findings, 
and other related topics. 

 This activity was facilitated by 
the FMCSA at the request of the NTSB. 

In addition, to understand common challenges experienced by drivers in the interstate 
motorcoach industry, the NTSB conducted two supplemental focus groups of motorcoach drivers 
on July 6, 2011, in Atlantic City, New Jersey. The 11 participating drivers had a broad range of 
driving experience. Their work involved charter and tour bus operations and scheduled 
motorcoach operations, including curbside operations. The topics discussed during the focus 
groups included safety challenges, hours of service (HOS), rest and sleep opportunities, fatigue, 
working conditions, and the role of government in promoting motorcoach safety. Additional 
information on the focus group procedures and findings is discussed in chapter 5. 

                                                                                                                                                             
24 As previously stated, some interstate motorcoach carriers conduct only curbside operations. Other carriers 

conduct operations from transportation terminals or hubs in addition to curbside operations. Finally, some 
motorcoach operators conduct on-demand charter operations in addition to scheduled line runs that may use curbside 
passenger pickup and drop off. 

25 A detailed description of these three steps is provided in chapter 4. 
26 Focus groups are a useful research technique for understanding attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors of specific 

groups. Standardized methods for conducting focus groups and analyzing acquired information are well developed. 
Focus groups can establish that specific behaviors and attitudes are present within a population and can provide 
valuable insight into understanding the topics of interest. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

8 

Meeting With Curbside Motorcoach Operator 

NTSB staff visited two curbside interstate motorcoach operators located in the 
northeastern United States. While visiting one of the operators, NTSB staff discussed that 
operator’s training program, technical enhancements for oversight capability, maintenance 
program, and bus operation monitoring system, and management officials communicated their 
safety concerns about, and recommendations for improvements in, the interstate curbside 
motorcoach operator community. 

Compliance Reviews and Motorcoach Inspections 

NTSB staff observed two compliance reviews conducted by FMCSA investigators. One 
compliance review was for a medium-sized motorcoach charter company, and the other review 
was for a small curbside operator. For both compliance reviews, NTSB staff observed the 
document review process and the discussions of the officials performing the compliance reviews. 

In addition, NTSB staff observed level I motorcoach inspections of commercial buses 
and motorcoaches in Washington, D.C., conducted by inspectors from the District of Columbia 
Metropolitan Police Force and the FMCSA.27

Meetings With Industry Associations 

 NTSB staff observed the inspection of the driver’s 
credentials and motorcoach mechanical inspections, including brake, suspension, and exhaust 
examinations. 

NTSB staff met with representatives from the American Bus Association and the 
United Motorcoach Association to solicit their views on interstate curbside motorcoach 
operations and interstate motorcoach safety. Other topics discussed included industry safety 
efforts, FMCSA oversight practices, and factors associated with the growth of the curbside 
motorcoach industry. 

Investigation Limitations 

The following limitations associated with this investigation must be considered when 
interpreting the results: 

Identification of Interstate Curbside Motorcoach Carriers 

Currently, FMCSA databases contain no official classification to identify carriers that 
provide curbside service. Before March 2009, passenger carriers seeking for-hire authority to 
transport passengers along regular routes were required to submit a detailed description and a 
map of the route(s) along which they proposed to operate. However, the FMCSA has not 
required scheduled passenger carriers to describe their routes and fixed endpoints since that 
                                                 

27 There are seven categories of roadside driver and vehicle inspections. A level I inspection, known as the North 
American standard inspection, includes an examination of a driver’s credentials and logbook and a vehicle mechanical 
inspection. Inspection levels II through VII are described in chapter 3 of this report. For more information on inspection 
levels, see <http://www.cvsa.org/programs/nas_levels.php> (accessed September 22, 2011). 

http://www.cvsa.org/programs/nas_levels.php�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

9 

time.28 This change was initiated by the FMCSA to streamline the registration process for new 
entrant carriers and make it easier for existing passenger carriers to add routes.29

Information on motorcoach companies was important for the NTSB’s investigation. 
Registered company names and “doing business as” names were commonly included in 
FMCSA databases. However, there was no systematic way to determine if these company names 
were actually used. For example, the NTSB identified names of companies offering interstate 
scheduled motorcoach services from various public sources, such as advertisements and ticketing 
websites, but many of the company names could not be found in FMCSA databases. This finding 
suggests that more motorcoach carriers may be providing scheduled service, including curbside 
service, than those identified for this investigation. 

 The 
discontinuation of this requirement made it difficult to definitively identify carriers offering 
curbside service. Further, the data sources did not permit the identification of charter/tour 
motorcoach carriers that had added scheduled trips to their services if the carriers had not 
notified the FMCSA of this change. 

To find evidence of interstate scheduled service and curbside service offered by a 
motorcoach carrier, the NTSB relied on online ticketing websites. It is possible that motorcoach 
carriers that have no independent company website or that do not use online ticketing websites 
might use a curbside business model and conduct this service using a walk-up ticketing method. 
Such carriers could not be identified by the methods used in this investigation. Further, it is 
possible that the investigation methods missed those operators that primarily conduct charter 
operations but also conduct curbside operations either infrequently or only on one or two specific 
scheduled trips. As a result, although the list of curbside motorcoach operators is the first known 
publicly available source for this information, the list likely omits some of these operators. 

Data Analyses 

Most data that the NTSB obtained from the FMCSA, either via the data portal or 
FMCSA staff, are “snapshot” data; that is, the information is current as of a specific date, and 
historical information is not included because it was not readily available. Longer-term data, 
such as FMCSA state crash data and roadside inspection data, are limited to a specific time 
frame. For example, roadside inspection data with detailed violation information cover a 
24-month period. 

Data regarding vehicle body type were not consistently organized, particularly for 
motorcoaches. Specifically, FMCSA state crash data records identified buses based on vehicle 
configuration (that is, number of seats) and gross vehicle weight. In contrast, NHTSA’s Fatality 
Analysis Reporting System (FARS)30

                                                 
28 Federal Register, vol. 74, no. 11 (January 16, 2009). 

 provided fatal accident data for buses using different 

29 The FMCSA received comments on the proposed rule from eight organizations (three motorcoach carriers, a 
bus trade association, two labor unions, a state regulatory agency, and a disability rights nonprofit organization). All 
eight organizations opposed this change, but the FMCSA stated in the final rule that the change would have no 
adverse effects on safety.  

30 The FARS is a census of fatal accidents on U.S. public roads in which at least one person died (except for 
documented suicides) within 30 days of an accident. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

10 

classifications, such as vehicle body type (for example, intercity/cross-country) and bus use (for 
example, scheduled). Because of the varying definitions and categorization of bus types and 
uses, it was difficult to directly compare FARS and state crash data. 

Accident and inspection records were linked to motorcoach carriers, so it was not 
possible to determine if a particular accident or inspection activity was attributed to a specific 
service type. Also, because a motorcoach carrier may provide curbside service along with 
conventional, charter, shuttle, and/or commuter services, the data indicate the safety culture of 
the carrier as a whole and not by the specific service type that the carrier provides. 

The most important mechanism for collecting motorcoach mileage information is the 
FMCSA’s MCS-150 form, which motorcoach operators are required to update every 24 months. 
However, the FMCSA appears to be inconsistent in enforcing the requirement for updating the 
MCS-150 form, as discussed in chapter 4. 

The analyses conducted during this investigation accurately depict the results from the 
comparisons of the various motorcoach carriers defined in this report based on the data available 
from the FMCSA. This investigation could not account for uncertainty associated with the 
identification of curbside carriers or for missing or inaccurate data from FMCSA data sources. 
Applying these results to different groups of motorcoach carriers would require additional 
categorization of the motorcoach carrier groups and new analyses. 

The cumulative effect of these limitations could reduce the accuracy and precision of the 
resulting data analyses. As a result, the findings from the data analyses should be 
interpreted with those limitations in mind. Also, the findings should be interpreted as an 
indication of general safety rather than an evaluation of individual operators. 

Focus Groups 

The focus groups of inspectors, investigators, and drivers verified the existence of 
specific motorcoach safety problems, including some that affect curbside carriers more than 
other motorcoach carriers, and the multiple factors contributing to them. The qualitative nature 
of focus group research meant that the frequency of the identified safety problems and their 
contributing factors could not be measured. 

 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

11 

Chapter 2: Motorcoach Operational 
Characteristics 

As previously stated, for the purpose of this investigation, curbside motorcoach 
operations consist of scheduled trips from one city to another city or a destination and originate 
or terminate at a location other than a traditional bus terminal; most of these operations pick up 
or discharge passengers at one or more curbside locations. Even though curbside motorcoach 
carriers use a specific business model, they share many important characteristics with other types 
of motorcoach carriers. These characteristics need to be considered when comparing curbside 
motorcoach carriers with other types of motorcoach carriers. 

Motorcoach Travel Data 

Comparing risks per unit of travel is essential for assessing motorcoach safety. Accurate 
travel data are necessary for such assessments; however, measuring the volume of highway 
travel in the United States by type of vehicle involves a considerable degree of uncertainty. 
States monitor traffic volume along certain roads and then submit travel data to the 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), which determines if the state estimates are 
reasonable.31 The federal government publishes annual statistics on intercity rail and airplane 
travel but does not distinguish intercity bus operations from other bus operations in annual 
reports on highway travel. Further, separate travel data on curbside motorcoach operations are 
not routinely collected by federal or state government agencies.32

The National Household Travel Survey, which the FHWA conducts every 5 to 7 years, 
estimated that 60 million person-trips

 

33 occurred on intercity buses in 2009 and that 241 million 
person-trips occurred on charter and tour buses during 2009.34 Motorcoaches are the most 
common type of bus used for intercity and charter/tour bus trips. Curbside services were 
estimated to comprise more than 20 percent of all intercity motorcoach departures (using a 
different travel measure than person-trips).35 Researchers estimated that about 5.9 million 
person-trips, accounting for 1.2 billion passenger-miles, took place in 2010 aboard buses 
providing intercity curbside service.36

                                                 
31 Annual Vehicle Miles of Travel and Related Data: Procedures Used to Derive the Data Elements of the 1994 

Table VM-1, Publication No. FHWA-PL-96-024 (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, 
Federal Highway Administration, June 1996). 

 Another researcher estimated that 2.4 billion passenger 

32 J.P. Schwieterman and L. Fischer. 
33 A person-trip is defined as one trip taken by one person. For example, a motorcoach carrying 57 passengers 

and 1 driver is equivalent to 58 person-trips. 
34 2009 National Household Travel Survey, Day Trip File, Public Use Codebook, Version 2.1, Travel Day 

Person Trips, annualized (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, 
2009), p. B-84. 

35 J.P. Schwieterman and L. Fischer. 
36 J.P. Schwieterman and L. Fischer. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

12 

miles were traveled during 2010 using intercity bus service (both curbside and conventional 
operations) in the Boston to Washington, D.C., corridor alone.37

Motorcoach Leasing and Brokers 

 

Leasing 

When a motor carrier needs additional drivers or vehicles for a specific charter, a 
scheduled route, or seasonal transportation, the carrier may partner with another motor carrier or 
company to lease its vehicles and drivers.38

The lack of oversight for leasing agreements among motorcoach carriers was one of the 
major safety issues identified in the NTSB’s investigation of the 2008 motorcoach accident south 
of Victoria, Texas.

 Maintenance may or may not be included in the 
lease. These leases can be informal and do not require written agreements. Current 
FMCSA regulations (49 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] Part 376) apply only to the leasing 
of motor vehicles for interstate for-hire transportation of property, such as freight and other 
goods. The FMCSA provides no oversight for leasing agreements among motorcoach carriers. 
This absence of oversight (1) may increase the likelihood that motorcoach owners, managers, 
lessees, operators, and customers could either intentionally or inadvertently participate in 
improper or illegal motorcoach operations and (2) hinders the FMCSA’s ability to detect and 
correct such activities. 

39 In that accident, Capricorn Bus Lines, Inc., a motorcoach company, was 
unable to secure the mandatory insurance and was thus unable to operate as an interstate 
passenger carrier. As a result, Capricorn leased its vehicles and drivers to another motorcoach 
company, International Charter Services, Inc., which then permitted Capricorn to use the leased 
vehicles and drivers to conduct its own line runs under International’s insurance and operating 
authority. The NTSB concluded that a motor carrier with passenger carrier operating authority40

The postaccident compliance review of International clarified that the FMCSA was aware 
of the lease arrangements between Capricorn and International. The NTSB concluded that the 
FMCSA, by not having regulations in place to address leasing arrangements involving passenger 
carriers, provided a lower level of safety oversight for motor carriers transporting passengers 

 
should be required to exercise documented full operational control over all drivers, vehicles, and 
trip operations being conducted under the carrier’s operating authority. 

                                                 
37 R. O’Toole. 
38 This arrangement is referred to as a trip lease (per charter or trip) or a term lease (for a specific length of 

time). Vehicle leasing is also called pooling. 
39 On January 2, 2008, a 2005 Volvo motorcoach was traveling northbound on U.S. Highway 59 about 5 miles 

south of Victoria, Texas, when the motorcoach driver drifted partially off the roadway and rolled over. One 
passenger was fatally injured, and 46 passengers and the driver received injuries ranging from serious to minor. For 
more information, see Motorcoach Rollover on U.S. Highway 59, Near Victoria, Texas, January 2, 2008, Highway 
Accident Summary Report NTSB/HAR-09/03/SUM (Washington, DC: National Transportation Safety Board, 
2009). 

40 Before beginning interstate operations, passenger carriers must obtain operating authority by submitting an 
OP-1(P) form, which must be approved by the FMCSA. Carriers are also required to apply for a DOT number using 
the MCS-150 form. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

13 

than for those transporting freight.41

The NTSB’s report on the Victoria, Texas, accident also expressed concern that a new 
carrier without operating authority could operate under the DOT number and insurance of 
another carrier and thus circumvent the FMCSA’s New Entrant Safety Assurance Program 
(which is discussed in chapter 3). As a result, on December 29, 2009, the NTSB issued Safety 
Recommendation H-09-36, which asked the FMCSA to establish a requirement to review all 
passenger carrier lease agreements during new entrant safety audits and compliance reviews to 
identify and take action against carriers that have lease agreements that result in a loss of 
operational control by the certificate holder. On February 4, 2011, the FMCSA responded that, if 
it were to adopt new regulations concerning lease agreements for certain passenger carriers, then 
the agency would modify its new entrant and intervention policies to require federal and state 
personnel to review these agreements. On September 9, 2011, the NTSB classified Safety 
Recommendation H-09-36 “Open—Acceptable Response” pending the establishment of the 
recommended requirement. 

 On December 29, 2009, the NTSB issued 
Safety Recommendation H-09-33, which asked the FMCSA to revise 49 CFR Part 376 to require 
that passenger motor carriers be subject to the same limitations on the leasing of equipment as 
interstate for-hire motor carriers of cargo. On May 9, 2011, the FMCSA responded that it would 
initiate rulemaking during the calendar year for amendments to its leasing regulations. On 
September 9, 2011, the NTSB classified Safety Recommendation H-09-33 “Open—Acceptable 
Response” pending publication of a final rule that addresses the intent of this recommendation. 

Brokers 

Brokers of passenger transportation, also known as bus brokers, are transportation 
intermediaries (entities or businesses) that arrange bus or motorcoach transportation between a 
client and a passenger motor carrier for a fee.42 Unlike brokers that facilitate the transportation of 
property, bus brokers are not subject to the Secretary of Transportation’s jurisdiction. 
Accordingly, bus brokers are not required to register with or obtain operating authority from the 
FMCSA.43

In general, bus brokers arrange scheduled and charter motorcoach services. Passengers 
can buy tickets from bus brokers (either on line or at a storefront), and the motorcoach operator 
providing bus service is reimbursed by the bus broker. For charters, the group requesting the 
charter pays the bus broker for this service, and the broker then pays the motorcoach company. 

 

                                                 
41 Currently, the FMCSA has no requirement for the approval or review of lease arrangements between 

passenger carriers.  
42 Such companies derive their income from the difference between the fees charged to the client and the amount 

the company agrees to compensate the motor carrier operator. 
43 Title 49 United States Code 13506(a)(14). 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

14 

The NTSB investigated a 2005 accident near Wilmer, Texas, that involved a charter 
operation that was set up through a bus broker.44 The motorcoach had been chartered by the 
broker Global Charter Services, Ltd.,45 doing business as The BusBank. The BusBank website 
indicated that the company had “a comprehensive bus operator qualification process” that 
included a review of an operator’s insurance, safety program, driver certification, and customer 
feedback. However, the NTSB found that The BusBank did not truly perform due diligence to 
ensure the safety of its charter operators.46 During the NTSB’s public hearing on the Wilmer 
accident,47 an FMCSA official stated that the agency did not have the authority to regulate 
brokers for passenger motor carriers. In addition, the FMCSA informed the NTSB that 
49 United States Code 13506(a)(14) exempted brokers for passenger motor carriers from the 
Secretary of Transportation’s jurisdiction.48

The motor carrier industry does not require that an operator be disclosed to the consumer 
when a ticket is purchased. For example, GotoBus.com, an online resource for bus tickets, is a 
broker for bus and tour operators. The website’s online booking system shows schedules, prices, 
and pickup and drop-off locations for more than 200 bus companies throughout the 
United States. However, the name of the bus or tour operator for a specific trip is not transparent 
when it is displayed on the website. The lack of a motorcoach company name prevents 
passengers and others from evaluating the company’s safety record or characteristics, including 
number of vehicles operated, corporate location, and other relevant information. 

 

On June 13, 2011, the FMCSA Administrator testified before the Committee on 
Transportation and Infrastructure, U.S. House of Representatives, about improving bus safety. 
The administrator indicated that “unregulated web sites broker and sell tickets with no 

                                                 
44 On September 23, 2005, a 1998 Motor Coach Industries motorcoach, operated by Global Limo, Inc., was 

en route from Bellaire to Dallas, Texas, carrying 44 assisted-living facility residents and nursing staff as part of the 
evacuation ahead of Hurricane Rita. As the motorcoach traveled northbound on Interstate 45 near Wilmer, a 
motorist noticed that the right rear tire hub was glowing red. The motorist alerted the motorcoach driver, who 
proceeded to the right shoulder of the interstate. The driver and the nursing staff exited the motorcoach and observed 
flames emanating from the right rear wheel well. As they initiated an evacuation of the motorcoach, heavy smoke 
and fire engulfed the entire vehicle. For more information, see Motorcoach Fire on Interstate 45 During 
Hurricane Rita Evacuation, Near Wilmer, Texas, September 23, 2005, Highway Accident Report NTSB/HAR-07/01 
(Washington, DC: National Transportation Safety Board, 2007.) 

45 Global Limo, Inc., the operator of the accident motorcoach, and Global Charter Services, Ltd., the bus 
broker, were two distinct and separate commercial entities. 

46 In addition, the NTSB found that The BusBank was not familiar with Global Limo and had no ongoing 
qualifications review process for this operator; Global Limo had no driver training program and accomplished no 
drug or alcohol testing of the accident driver; the accident driver was not properly licensed in the state of Texas and 
did not have the required medical certificate; the driver could not communicate with passengers because he could 
not speak English; and the accident bus was not properly registered, was not well maintained, and was being 
operated in violation of a leasing contract signed by the owners of the motorcoach.  

47 The NTSB may hold a public hearing as part of its investigation into an accident to supplement the factual 
record. Technical experts are called to testify, and NTSB investigative staff, designated representatives from the 
parties to the investigation, and additional parties to the hearing can ask questions to obtain additional factual 
information. 

48 The regulation states, “neither the Secretary nor the Board has jurisdiction under this part over . . . brokers for 
motor carriers of passengers, except as provided in section 13904(d).”  



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

15 

transparency to the public” and that the FMCSA was seeking authority to regulate brokers of 
passenger tickets as is done for brokers of freight and household goods.49

On May 5, 2011, the FMCSA launched its “Think Safety: Every Trip, Every Time” 
pre-trip safety checklist to help consumers review a bus company’s safety record, safety rating, 
and DOT operating authority before buying a ticket or hiring an operator for group travel.

 

50

It is unclear whether consumers are likely to use the FMCSA’s website to determine the 
safety of the motorcoach carrier that they are considering. Further, the website is not intuitive 
because scores are computed on a scale of 0 to 100 percent, with 100 percent indicating the worst 
performance and 0 percent indicating the best performance. Also, the website does not permit 
direct comparisons of the relative safety of different motorcoach carriers because passenger 
carriers are grouped with property carriers that have a similar number of vehicles. (This 
information is discussed further in chapter 3.) 

 
However, information about the actual motor carrier that will be conducting the trip may still not 
be transparent to consumers. A review of online brokerage services showed that 72 percent of 
curbside carriers use such services to sell their tickets compared with 22 percent of conventional 
carriers. These brokering services include independent companies, such as GotoBus.com, and 
consolidated ticketing websites provided by Coach USA, Coach America, and Trailways. 

Motorcoach and Bus Accident Information 

Research on Accidents 

National statistics on the number of police-reported accidents, registered vehicles, and 
vehicle-miles of travel are reported for buses. Even though these data are not fully available 
specifically for motorcoaches, bus statistics are useful for understanding motorcoach safety 
because of the similarities in vehicle design among different categories of buses.51

FARS data includes information on cross-country/intercity buses (including both 
scheduled route and charter/tour services), school buses, transit buses, and other/unknown buses. 
Of these bus types, cross-country/intercity buses are the only ones considered to be 

 

                                                 
49 For more information, see <http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/news/speeches/OralStatement-AnneSFerro06132011 

.aspx>, accessed August 19, 2011. 
50 The checklist can be found on the FMCSA’s website at <http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/safety-security/pcs/Index 

.aspx> (accessed September 22, 2011). 
51 As previously stated, a motorcoach is a bus that has seating for 30 or more passengers on an elevated passenger 

deck over a baggage compartment along with integral construction designed for long-distance passenger transportation. 
According to the Buses Involved in Fatal Accidents database (University of Michigan Transportation Research 
Institute, Center for National Truck and Bus Statistics), buses are vehicles with seating for 9 or more occupants, 
including the driver (except for personal passenger vehicles), and all vehicles that are designed to transport 16 or more 
people. School buses are defined as buses that provide transportation for pupils regardless of whether the buses are 
publicly or privately owned. Transit buses provide passenger transportation within urban geographical areas and have 
fixed scheduled routes. Intercity buses provide long-distance passenger transportation between cities or from cities to 
popular destinations along fixed routes with regular schedules. Charter buses operate buses for groups on a for-hire 
basis. Other buses are operated by private organizations that are not in the business of providing transportation, such as 
churches, or non-educational units of government, such as departments of correction.  

http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/news/speeches/OralStatement-AnneSFerro06132011.aspx�
http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/news/speeches/OralStatement-AnneSFerro06132011.aspx�
http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/safety-security/pcs/Index.aspx�
http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/safety-security/pcs/Index.aspx�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

16 

motorcoaches.52 According to NHTSA, in 2009, 38 cross-country/intercity buses were involved 
in fatal crashes, representing 0.1 percent of all motor vehicles involved in fatal crashes that year. 
In comparison, 89 school buses and 77 transit buses were involved in fatal crashes during 
2009.53 Buses and other commercial motor vehicles (CMV) have a higher likelihood of fatal 
accident involvement per registered vehicle. FHWA and NHTSA data showed that, per 100,000 
registered vehicles, 14.7 passenger cars, 19 light trucks (pickups and sport utility vehicles), 
29.3 buses, 45.4 large trucks, and 69.8 motorcycles were involved in fatal accidents during 
2008.54

A study by the University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute (UMTRI) that 
examined fatal bus accidents from 1999 to 2007 found that school buses were the most common 
type of passenger carrier involved in fatal accidents (39 percent) followed by transit buses 
(33 percent), charter/tour buses (11.5 percent), other/unknown bus types (10 percent),

 However, the occupant death rate per accident was lower for buses overall than for 
passenger cars. During 2009, the bus occupant fatality rate was 45 deaths per 100,000 accidents 
compared with 251 deaths per 100,000 accidents for passenger car occupants. 

55 and 
intercity buses (3.4 percent).56 The UMTRI study also found that most road users who were 
fatally injured in bus accidents were occupants of other vehicles followed by non-occupants 
(pedestrians and bicyclists) and then bus occupants. The proportion of fatally injured road users 
who were bus occupants was higher for intercity and charter/tour buses than for school or transit 
buses. According to 2008 fatality data from the Buses Involved in Fatal Accidents database and 
travel data from the National Household Travel Survey for April 2008 through April 2009, the 
estimated occupant fatalities per 100 million person-trips was 10.0 for intercity buses and 13.7 
for charter/tour buses.57

The UMTRI study compared the type of buses involved in fatal accidents with 
police-reported driving errors. According to the study, 31 percent of intercity bus drivers 
involved in fatal accidents had been cited with driving errors compared with 33 percent of 
charter/tour bus drivers and 24 percent of school bus drivers. Also, intercity bus and charter/tour 
bus drivers were coded more often than transit and school bus drivers as “driving too fast” or 
being “drowsy/asleep.” The study pointed out that the drivers of charter/tour and intercity buses 
had more opportunities to speed because they tended to travel more frequently on interstates 
compared with buses conducting other operations. The study’s statistical model indicated the 

 

                                                 
52 The NTSB has investigated motorcoach accidents that could not be located in the FARS database by 

cross-country/intercity body type. Motorcoach accidents may be coded as “other” or “unknown” body types in the 
FARS. 

53 (a) Traffic Safety Facts 2008 (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway 
Traffic Safety Administration, 2010). (b) Traffic Safety Facts 2009: Early Edition (Washington, DC: 
U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 2010). 

54 (a) Traffic Safety Facts 2009: Early Edition. (b) Highway Statistics 2008 (Washington, DC: U.S. Department 
of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, 2009), table MV-10. 

55 “Other” can refer to usage of the vehicle, which could include motorcoaches involved in activities other than 
intercity or charter operations.  

56 D. Blower, P.E. Green, and A. Matteson, Bus Operator Types and Driver Factors in Fatal Bus Crashes: 
Results from the Buses Involved in Fatal Accidents Survey, FMCSA-RRA-09-041 (Washington, DC: 
U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, 2010). 

57 Both the small number of bus occupant fatalities and the difficulties in measuring travel resulted in 
considerable uncertainty in the estimated rates of occupant fatalities per unit of travel. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

17 

following risk factors for driver errors associated with fatal accidents: previous moving 
violations, a police-reported accident during the 3 years before a fatal accident, and an intercity 
or a charter/tour bus operation. 

Previous NTSB Motorcoach Accident Investigations and Safety 
Recommendations 

From 1998 to 2010, the NTSB investigated 19 motorcoach accidents. These accidents, 
which resulted in 140 fatalities, involved interstate motorcoaches providing scheduled service, 
tour buses, and charter buses. One of these accidents (Victoria, Texas) involved a curbside 
motorcoach carrier (as defined in this report). (The NTSB is currently investigating accidents 
involving curbside carriers that occurred during 2011.) Among the safety issues identified during 
the investigations were driver fatigue, drivers exceeding legal driving hour limits, unqualified 
drivers, driver distraction from cell phone use, medical problems, unqualified mechanics, 
motorcoach carriers that violated safety regulations, and motorcoach carriers that had been 
placed out of service (OOS) but had been “reincarnated” as new carriers with different names. 

As a result of these and other accident investigations, the NTSB issued numerous 
recommendations to improve motorcoach safety.58

• requiring electronic onboard recorders to enable effective enforcement of driving 
hour limits; 

 These recommendations were issued to 
federal agencies, including the FMCSA, NHTSA, and FHWA; state government agencies; 
private companies; and trade associations representing passenger carriers using motorcoaches. 
Some of the issues addressed by these recommendations were the following: 

• assessing driver qualifications and monitoring driving records; 

• banning cell phones use while operating a passenger-carrying vehicle; 

• assessing medical fitness of drivers; 

• disseminating safety information to motor carriers; 

• ensuring that companies are employing qualified mechanics; 

• detecting unsafe carriers that have been reincarnated under another name; 

• implementing crash avoidance technologies, such as forward collision warning 
systems and automatic braking; 

• making motorcoaches more crashworthy by strengthening roofs, improving seat 
anchorages, revising window glazing requirements, and developing performance 
standards for luggage racks to prevent injury; and 

• improving fire protection. 

                                                 
58 For information about the NTSB’s motorcoach accident reports and motorcoach safety recommendations, see 

the public docket for this report, which can be found on the NTSB’s website at <http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/ 
dms.html >. 

http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms.html�
http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms.html�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

18 

Chapter 3: Regulatory Requirements and 
Oversight Procedures 

Responsibilities of Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration 

As stated in chapter 1, oversight of interstate motor carrier operations, including 
transportation of passengers, is the responsibility of the FMCSA. As part of its oversight 
responsibilities, the FMCSA oversees commercial vehicle safety by regulating commercial 
interstate driver HOS regulations, alcohol and drug testing requirements, driver medical 
certification standards, minimum requirements for commercial driver’s licenses (CDL) issued by 
individual states, requirements for freight carriers and certain types of brokers, and minimum 
standards for vehicle maintenance and roadworthiness.59

Compliance, Safety, and Accountability Program 

 The FMCSA and individual states work 
together to ensure that both federal and state regulatory safety requirements for interstate motor 
carriers are enforced. FMCSA regulations for the interstate operation of motorcoaches are the 
same regardless of the type of operation. 

In December 2010, the FMCSA began the Compliance, Safety, and Accountability 
(CSA) program as its new oversight and enforcement system for commercial motor carriers. This 
program replaced the previous SafeStat program, which was designed to identify and target high-
risk motor carriers.60 The CSA program encompasses several different factors to improve the 
FMCSA’s ability to identify carriers that are not operating safely. The CSA program also 
provides the FMCSA, states, U.S. territories, and local jurisdictions the means to prioritize and 
manage CMV operator inspections. Full implementation of the CSA program has been delayed 
because the implementation requires rulemaking as well as additional technology.61

The CSA operational model has three major components: measurement, evaluation, and 
intervention, each of which is described below. 

 

Measurement 

The Safety Measurement System (SMS) component of the CSA program is intended to 
identify individual operator safety problems that can be targeted for correction. The SMS 
comprises six categories that address motor carrier, driver, and vehicle safety performance and a 
crash indicator that considers histories or patterns of motor carrier accident involvement 

                                                 
59 This information was obtained from the FMCSA website, <http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/aboutus.htm> 

(accessed September 22, 2011).  
60 The SafeStat program rated motor carriers (but not individual drivers) in four safety evaluation areas: 

accident, driver, vehicle, and safety management. The FMCSA developed the CSA program to better measure motor 
carrier, driver, and vehicle safety performance and use these data to correct unsafe practices.  

61 Motor Carrier Safety: More Assessment and Transparency Could Enhance Benefits of New Oversight 
Program, GAO Report 11-858 (Washington, DC: Government Accountability Office, 2011).  

http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/aboutus.htm�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

19 

(including frequency and severity).62 These seven categories are collectively called the Behavior 
Analysis Safety Improvement Categories (BASICs), as detailed in table 1. According to the 
FMCSA, these specific behaviors are most strongly associated with accident risk.63

Table 1. Behavior Analysis Safety Improvement Categories. 

 

Category Description 

Unsafe driving Operation of a CMV in a dangerous or careless manner, including speeding, 
reckless driving, improper lane changes, and inattention. 

Fatigued driving Operation of a CMV by drivers who are ill, fatigued, or not in compliance with HOS 
regulations. Violation of regulations requiring the complete and accurate 
recording of logbooks as they relate to HOS requirements and the management 
of driver fatigue.  

Driver fitness Operation of a CMV by drivers who are unfit to operate a CMV because of a lack 
of training, experience, or medical qualifications. 

Controlled substances 
and alcohol 

Operation of a CMV by drivers who are impaired because of alcohol, illegal drugs, 
or misuse of prescription or over-the-counter medications.  

Vehicle maintenance  Failure to properly maintain a CMV. 

Improper loading/cargo 
securement 

Failure to properly secure cargo to prevent shifting loads, spilled or dropped cargo, 
or unsafe handling of hazardous materials.  

Crash indicator  State-reported accident involvement for motor carriers. 

 

The FMCSA uses roadside inspection data, as well as operator violation data (weighted 
by accident risk), state crash data, and compliance review results,64

Roadside inspection data are collected by FMCSA, state, and local personnel. These 
inspections are typically conducted at motorcoach terminals or parking areas once the passengers 
have disembarked. (En route inspections of motorcoaches are no longer conducted because they 

 to develop safety 
performance measures used in the SMS. The most important component of the SMS is data 
obtained from roadside inspections of a carrier. The SMS also considers data from FMCSA 
national databases, including the previous 24 months of roadside inspection data and 
state-reported CMV accidents from the Motor Carrier Management Information System 
(MCMIS), motor carrier registration/census data, and results from federal and state compliance 
reviews conducted within the previous 12 months. SMS scores are updated to reflect recent 
inspections, compliance reviews, and traffic violations. If no data are collected during a 
24-month period, the individual BASIC value for a particular category is listed as “insufficient 
data.” 

                                                 
62 The crash indicator considers all accidents involving a motor carrier regardless of whether the driver was 

deemed to be at fault.  
63 Safety Measurement System (SMS) Methodology, Version 2.1 (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of 

Transportation, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, December 2010), <http://csa2010.fmcsa.dot.gov/ 
documents/smsmethodology.pdf> (accessed October 12, 2011). 

64 This information is available to FMCSA investigators and inspectors and state and local law enforcement 
agencies through the Motor Carrier Management Information System (MCMIS). The MCMIS contains information 
on the safety fitness of commercial motor carriers and hazardous material shippers subject to the FMCSRs and the 
Hazardous Materials Regulations. This information is also available to the public through the MCMIS data 
dissemination program. 

http://csa2010.fmcsa.dot.gov/documents/smsmethodology.pdf�
http://csa2010.fmcsa.dot.gov/documents/smsmethodology.pdf�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

20 

are prohibited by law except in the case of imminent hazard or when a motorcoach is at a 
planned stop location.)65 Table 2 shows the seven types of roadside inspections for CMVs, six of 
which are generally applicable to motorcoaches.66

Table 2. Roadside Driver and Vehicle Inspections. 

 

Inspection level Title Description 

I North American standard 
inspection 

Examination of a driver’s credentials and logbook and 
a vehicle mechanical inspection. 

II Walk-around driver/vehicle 
inspection 

Examination of a driver’s credentials and logbook and 
a walk-around inspection of the vehicle. 

III Driver-only inspection Examination of a driver’s credentials and logbook.  

IV Special inspection One-time examination of a particular item to support a 
study or verify or refute a suspected trend. 

V Vehicle-only inspection Inspection that includes each vehicle inspection item 
specified under level I but without a driver present 
and conducted at any location. 

VI North American standard 
inspection for transuranic 
waste and highway route 
controlled quantities of 
radioactive materials 

A level I inspection and an inspection to ensure that 
radiological requirements and transuranic waste 
and highway route controlled quantities of 
radioactive materials requirements are met.  

VII Jurisdictional mandated 
commercial vehicle 
inspection  

Other inspection programs that are required by 
various jurisdictions (for example, mandated 
inspections of motorcoaches, limousines, and 
school buses).  

 

The SMS is a data-driven process that requires that adequate data be collected through 
inspections or from the states (in the form of accident data or operator violation data) for a carrier to 
be evaluated. If no data are collected for a carrier, it cannot be easily evaluated using SMS. 

Evaluation 

Data entered into the SMS are scored and ranked based on how recently the safety event 
occurred and the severity of the event.67

1. Relevant inspection, violation, and accident data obtained from the MCMIS are 
used to create a safety event history for each carrier. 

 The carrier ranking process comprises the following 
steps: 

2. The resulting information is entered into the BASIC data system. 
                                                 

65 Title 49 United States Code 31102(b)(1)(x). 
66 This information was obtained from the Commercial Vehicle Safety Alliance website, 

<http://www.cvsa.org/programs/nas.php> (accessed October 2, 2011). Level VI does not generally pertain to 
motorcoaches. 

67 More information on safety scoring and weighting can be found at Safety Measurement System (SMS) 
Methodology, Version 2.1. 

http://www.cvsa.org/programs/nas.php�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

21 

3. Each carrier’s violations are classified into a BASIC and are time weighted, 
severity weighted, and normalized to form a quantifiable measure for a carrier in 
each BASIC. 

4. Each carrier is grouped with similar-sized carriers, their BASIC measures are 
ranked, and a percentage is calculated (with 100 percent indicating the worst 
performance in the group and 0 percent indicating the best performance)68

The comparison of motor carrier groups used for the percentage calculations are based on 
the number and type of vehicles being used in interstate transportation as well as the number of 
safety violations discovered during inspections or compliance reviews. The FMCSA further 
segments the motor carrier groups as follows: 

 to 
determine the safety behavior of a carrier compared with similar carriers in each 
BASIC. 

The SMS uses segmentation within the Unsafe Driving and Crash Indicator BASICs to 
account for carrier differences by placing the carrier population into two groups based on the 
types of vehicles operated. Carriers are grouped by the following two vehicle types/operations: 

• Combo Segment—Combination trucks/motor coach buses constituting 70 percent or 
more of the total power units (vehicles). 

• Straight Segment—Straight trucks/other vehicles constituting more than 30 percent of 
the total power units (vehicles). 

The segmentation of motor carriers means that companies that have fundamentally 
different types of vehicles/operations are not compared with each other.69

The type of motor carrier operation is not considered in the comparison grouping. As a 
result, interstate motorcoach carriers could be grouped with interstate motor carriers transporting 
freight depending on the number and type of vehicles used and the safety performance of the 
carriers. 

 

Intervention 

The FMCSA monitors interstate motor carrier safety performance and scores on a 
monthly basis. The goal of this ongoing surveillance is to identify carriers that are having safety 
problems early so that appropriate interventions can be initiated before an accident occurs. 
Currently, the FMCSA intervention process is predicated on the severity of the violation(s). 
Interventions range from a letter of warning to a compliance review. 

                                                 
68 All other carriers in that comparison group have a calculated percentage between 0 and 100 percent based on 

their performance relative to the other carriers in the group. 
69 This information was obtained from the FMCSA’s website, <http://ai.fmcsa.dot.gov/sms/infocenter/# 

question25> (accessed September 22, 2011). 

http://ai.fmcsa.dot.gov/sms/infocenter/#question25�
http://ai.fmcsa.dot.gov/sms/infocenter/#question25�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

22 

If a motorcoach operator’s scores equal or exceed 50 percent for unsafe driving, fatigued 
driving, or crashes, then the FMCSA sends a warning letter and may initiate a compliance review 
or another intervention with the operator to address the problem. The threshold for triggering a 
warning letter or FMCSA intervention is set higher (65 percent) for other measures of safety 
performance, including driver fitness, controlled substances, and maintenance. 

Evaluation of Compliance, Safety, and Accountability Operational Model 

A report prepared by UMTRI evaluated the CSA operational model during a 29-month 
period between February 2008 and June 2010.70

The UMTRI report compared the effectiveness of CSA with that of the previous 
operational model (SafeStat) in selecting carriers for inspections and compliance reviews. Data 
from four states, which randomly assigned motor carriers to the CSA or the previous model, 
were used to determine whether the carriers exceeded FMCSA preset thresholds for intervention. 
UMTRI found that motor carriers that received a warning letter under the CSA program showed 
dramatic improvements in key safety performance measures during 12 months of followup 
compared with motor carriers evaluated under the SafeStat operational model. 

 Passenger carriers were combined with other 
motor carriers for this investigation. UMTRI examined the association between the seven 
CSA safety performance factors (BASICs) and accident risk. The strongest associations with 
accident risk were found for the following factors: unsafe driving (primarily because of speeding 
citations), crash indicator, controlled substance and alcohol, and fatigued driving. 

UMTRI also examined the percent of motor carriers that were contacted under the 
CSA program and the previous system and used this information to estimate that 6.3 percent (and 
perhaps up to 9.9 percent) of motor carriers would receive an intervention annually under the 
CSA program compared with 2.2 percent under the previous system. The UMTRI report 
concluded that the CSA operational model was beneficial for identifying carriers with an 
increased risk for accidents, performing safety oversight for a higher percent of carriers, and 
producing improvements in safety practices. The FMCSA announced that it would continue to 
improve the methods used in CSA operational model and that an additional evaluation would be 
published in 2016 to determine whether the CSA operational model was working as intended. 

Compliance Reviews 

A compliance review is an on-site examination of a motor carrier’s operation to determine 
the carrier’s compliance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations (FMCSRs) and 
evaluate the carrier’s management controls.71

                                                 
70 P.E. Green and D. Blower, Evaluation of the CSA 2010 Operational Model Test, FMCSA-RRA-11-019 

(Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, August 2011). 
It is important to note that, although UMTRI’s evaluation defined CSA as “comprehensive safety analysis,” the 
FMCSA had changed the name of the operational model to “compliance, safety, and accountability.” 

 The FMCSA selects motor carriers for this review 
based on whether the following events have occurred: 

71 Compliance reviews that are limited to specific problems or include a detailed investigation of specific 
problem areas are called onsite focused investigations. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

23 

• an investigation of a nonfrivolous complaint from a passenger or another operator, 

• a fatal accident, 

• a major hazardous materials incident, 

• a high SMS ranking, 

• an enforcement followup action, or 

• a carrier’s request for the review. 

Compliance reviews are labor-intensive processes that can take from 1 day to several 
weeks to complete depending on the carrier’s size and the number of investigators involved with 
the review. After a compliance review, a safety rating is assigned. To determine the safety rating, 
an FMCSA or a state official examines a carrier’s safety and transportation-related records72 and 
interviews company safety officials to gauge the carrier’s compliance with the FMCSRs. The 
review is organized into six safety performance factors—general, driver, operational, vehicle, 
hazardous materials, and crash rate73

• Satisfactory: records indicated no evidence of substantial noncompliance with safety 
requirements. 

—and each factor is assessed to be satisfactory, conditional, 
or unsatisfactory based on the following criteria: 

• Conditional: records indicated that the carrier was out of compliance with one or 
more safety requirements. 

• Unsatisfactory: records indicated evidence of substantial noncompliance with safety 
requirements.74

The safety performance factors are then combined to determine a proposed overall safety 
rating of satisfactory, conditional, or unsatisfactory, as shown in table 3. A carrier can have up to two 
factors with conditional ratings and still receive an overall satisfactory rating. FMCSA management 
makes the final determination of a carrier’s overall safety rating. The FMCSA can also fine carriers 
for FMCSR violations. 

 

                                                 
72 These records include the carrier’s HOS practices, vehicle maintenance and inspections, driver qualifications, 

CDL requirements, financial responsibility, accidents, and hazardous materials compliance.  
73 The FMCSR references for each of the factors are the following: general, 49 CFR 387 and 390; driver, 

49 CFR 382, 383, and 391; operational, 49 CFR 392 and 395; vehicle, 49 CFR 393 and 396; and hazardous 
materials, 49 CFR 171, 177, 180, and 397. The crash rate is rated as satisfactory or unsatisfactory. More information 
can be found in 49 CFR Part 385, appendix B, section II. 

74 For more information, see <http://www.safer.fmcsa.dot.gov/saferhelp.aspx#SafetyRating> (accessed 
October 2, 2011). 

http://www.safer.fmcsa.dot.gov/saferhelp.aspx#SafetyRating�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

24 

Table 3. Compliance Review Ratings. 

Number of safety performance factors with  

Unsatisfactory ratings Conditional ratings Overall safety rating 

None Two or less Satisfactory 

None More than two Conditional 

One Two or less Conditional 

One More than two Unsatisfactory  

Two or more Zero or more Unsatisfactory 

 

Carriers determined to have an overall unsatisfactory safety rating can continue to operate 
if they develop a plan to correct the deficiencies (within 45 days for passenger and hazardous 
materials carriers and 60 days for other carriers). If the FMCSA approves the submitted plan, the 
rating can be upgraded from unsatisfactory to conditional. However, if the carrier does not 
submit a plan to correct the deficiencies, or if a submitted plan is not approved, then the FMCSA 
will issue an OOS order for the carrier to cease operations. Carriers with conditional ratings may 
continue to operate without any restrictions except that they are not permitted to have 
self-insurance or hazardous materials. If these carriers want to have their rating changed from 
conditional to satisfactory, they can submit a corrective plan to the FMCSA, have the plan 
approved, and undergo another compliance review. 

New Entrant Safety Assurance Program 

A person or company interested in starting an interstate motor carrier needs to assemble 
the assets necessary (for example, vehicles, physical facility, and financing) and apply to the 
FMCSA for operating authority. The FMCSA application requires the following forms: (1) the 
MCS-150 for property and nonhazardous materials safety permit carriers or MCS-150B for 
hazardous materials safety permit carriers and (2) the OP-1 for cargo carriers and property 
brokers, OP-1(P) for passenger carriers, or OP-1(FF) for freight forwarders (which can arrange 
shipments for a customer and act as a carrier). In addition, if applying for operating authority, the 
prospective carrier needs to provide proof of the required insurance coverage and a process 
agent. By filling out the application for DOT registration and the application for authority to 
operate, the applicant is legally verifying that it has access to and is familiar with the FMCSRs; 
however, the applicant does not have to demonstrate proof of knowledge and the ability to 
comply with the regulations. 

On January 1, 2003, the FMCSA implemented its New Entrant Safety Assurance 
Program. Under this program, all new motor carriers operating in interstate commerce are 
considered new entrants when they register with the FMCSA. A new entrant carrier is subject to 
an 18-month safety monitoring period.75

                                                 
75 Before any operation, all new entrant motor carriers must obtain a DOT number; if the operation is 

“for-hire,” then the carrier must also obtain a motor carrier number. A new entrant motor carrier will be issued a 
DOT number with a new entrant designation, and the carrier’s registration will become permanent after the 
18-month safety monitoring period has been successfully completed. 

 After the new entrant’s first 3 months of operation and 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

25 

before it completes 18 months of operation, the FMCSA conducts a safety audit of the carrier 
and evaluates its accident and roadside inspection data. At a minimum, the safety audit covers 
driver qualifications, driver duty status, vehicle maintenance, accident history, and controlled 
substances and alcohol use testing requirements. If the FMCSA identifies deficiencies, then the 
carrier must provide the FMCSA with evidence showing that the carrier is correcting the faults 
found during the audit. Also, the FMCSA can revoke operating authority without affording the 
carrier an opportunity for correction. The FMCSA stated that it would grant permanent motor 
carrier registration only if the new entrant successfully completed the 18-month safety 
monitoring period. During 2008, 2009, and 2010, there were 37,400, 41,280, and 33,845 new 
entrant applicants (for all types of motor carriers), respectively, that reached the screening phase. 

Beginning in 2006, the FMCSA developed an evasion detection algorithm to screen 
household goods applicants and identify those household goods carriers with a history of poor 
safety performance. In August 2008, the FMCSA developed the new applicant screening 
program and began applying it to newly registered passenger carriers before granting them 
operating authority. This program seeks matches between applicant information and 
corporate-identifying information contained in the FMCSA’s MCMIS, Licensing and Insurance 
System, and Enforcement Management Information System databases to identify new applicants 
that may be enforcement evaders. In some instances, the FMCSA identified existing carriers that 
were reapplying for operating authority under a different company name and/or management 
name but were essentially the same carrier that the FMCSA had put out of service or that owed 
civil penalties to the FMCSA resulting from violations discovered during a compliance review. 
These “reincarnated carriers” were sometimes described as “chameleon carriers” because they 
tried to camouflage their past poor safety records by changing names,76

In addition to reviewing applicant information during the vetting process to identify 
reincarnated or chameleon carriers as part of the new entrant safety audit, FMCSA investigators 
ask applicants questions intended to clarify their business relationships with other regulated 
entities. The FMCSA uses the new entrant program and vetting process to help ensure that a new 
motor carrier is not a continuation of a previous motor carrier that reorganized to avoid 
enforcement action. The FMCSA must consider the legal issue of motor carrier successor 
liability to determine if a former company and a new entrant are essentially the same. In a 2010 
Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration, the FMCSA decided that it was not necessary to 
determine whether the standard for successor liability of motor carrier civil penalty enforcement 
cases should be the traditional common law, the particular state law, or the federal doctrine of 
substantial continuity. In determining whether a company is a continuation of a previous 
corporation, the FMCSA considers a number of factors, including the retention of the same 
employees, supervisory personnel, and production facilities; production of the same products, 
with a continuity of assets and business operations; use of the same name; and presentation to the 
public.

 even though the carriers 
still lacked adequate safety measures. 

77

                                                 
76 As stated in Federal Register, vol. 73, no. 242 (December 16, 2008), a reincarnated or chameleon carrier is 

“a carrier that attempts to register as a new entrant and operate as a different entity under a new DOT number in an 
effort to evade enforcement action and/or out-of-service orders issued against it by the [FMCSA].” 

 

77 In the Matter of Williamson Transport Co. Inc., Docket No. FMCSA-2004-17247, Final Order, (Washington, 
DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, July 20, 2010). 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

26 

On December 16, 2008, the FMCSA published a final rule addressing the new entrant 
safety assurance process. The intent of the rule was to improve the FMCSA’s “ability to identify 
at-risk new entrant motor carriers and ensure that deficiencies are corrected before granting them 
permanent registration.” The rule specifically addressed reincarnated cargo carriers and stated 
that any carrier that provided false or misleading information or concealed information would be 
subject to revocation of its new entrant registration and civil penalties.78 The final rule identified 
16 regulatory violations that would automatically result in the failure of an FMCSA safety 
audit.79

After publication of the December 2008 final rule, a petition for reconsideration 
challenged that the FMCSA had failed to address section 210(a) of the Motor Carrier Safety 
Improvement Act of 1999 (Public Law 106-159, December 9, 1999), which required new entrant 
carriers to demonstrate a minimum knowledge of the safety standards. On August 25, 2009, the 
FMCSA published an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking

 

80

Federal motor carrier law is organized under two distinct statutory frameworks: one 
governs economic and commercial regulation of the industry, and the other addresses safety 
regulation of the industry. The statutory provision that provides the DOT with the authority to 
grant operating authority is found within the economic statutory framework and not the safety 
framework. As a result, the DOT has limited ability to use this statutory provision for raising the 
standards for those seeking operating authority. Legislative change is required to link registration 
to safety oversight. 

 to address the knowledge 
requirements in 49 CFR Part 385. The FMCSA has not issued a notice of proposed rulemaking 
addressing this issue. In 2011, the DOT asked Congress to provide the FMCSA with greater 
authority to pursue unsafe reincarnated passenger carriers by establishing a uniform federal 
standard to help determine whether a new carrier is a reincarnation of a previous unsafe carrier. 
The DOT also asked Congress for authority to require new motorcoach companies to undergo a 
comprehensive safety audit before receiving operating authority. 

Funding for State Oversight of Interstate Motor Carriers 

To support the interstate motor carrier oversight and enforcement activities of states, 
territories, and local jurisdictions, the FMCSA provides supplemental funding through grants 
from the Motor Carrier Safety Assistance Program (MCSAP). The FMCSA reimburses each 
state’s lead MCSAP agency with 80 percent of eligible costs incurred during a fiscal year, and 
each lead agency must provide 20 percent of the costs to qualify for the program. For fiscal 
year 2012, the FMCSA proposed a total MCSAP budget of about $263 million.81

                                                 
78 According to 49 United States Code 521(b)(2)(A), civil penalties are not to exceed $2,500 for employees and 

$10,000 for companies. 

 

79 The violations resulting in an automatic failure of a safety audit involve the following regulations: 49 CFR 
382.115(a) and (b), 382.201, 382.211, 382.215, 382.305, 383.3(a), 383.23(a), 383.37(a), 383.51(a), 387.7(a), 
387.31(a), 391.15(a), 391.11(b)(4), 395.8(a), 396.9(c)(2), 396.11(c), and 396.17(a). 

80 Federal Register, vol. 74, no. 163 (August 25, 2009). 
81 William A. Quade, Associate Administrator for Enforcement and Program Delivery, FMCSA, memorandum 

(regarding Fiscal Year 2012 Commercial Vehicle Safety Plan, including MCSAP funding) to FMCSA Field 
Administrators Division, Administrators State Program Managers, April 8, 2011. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

27 

Table 4 provides a listing of interstate motor carrier inspection personnel by organization 
and the type of motor carrier inspections that they are authorized to conduct.82 The FMCSA does 
not prescribe how MCSAP funds are to be allocated; states can determine how many inspectors 
are needed for vehicle inspections and compliance reviews. Inspectors need specialized training 
to conduct motorcoach inspections. Of the 10,273 total inspectors that are qualified to conduct 
CMV inspections nationwide, 2,327 (22.7 percent) are qualified to conduct motorcoach 
inspections.83

Table 4. Interstate Motor Carrier Inspection Personnel During 2011. 

 

 Inspection personnel  

Authorized inspection FMCSA staff 
State and 

territory staff 
Local staff and 

other authorities Total 

CMV inspections 792 7,082 2,399 10,273 

Motorcoach inspections 417 1,880 171 2,327 

CMV compliance reviews 347 469 62 878 

 

The 878 inspectors qualified to perform compliance reviews are responsible for a total of 
765,221 motor carriers, which is equivalent to a ratio of 1.15 investigators per 1,000 motor 
carriers. The 10,273 inspectors qualified to conduct CMV inspections are responsible for a total 
of 4,830,972 CMVs, which is equivalent to a ratio of 2.13 inspectors per 1,000 CMVs. The ratio 
of qualified motorcoach inspectors per 1,000 motorcoaches is higher (43 motorcoach inspectors 
per 1,000 motorcoaches) and is based on a total of 53,097 motorcoaches; however, these 
inspectors are responsible for inspecting all motor carriers and not only motorcoach carriers. 

Voluntary Safety Reporting System 

The FMCSA stated that it might conduct a compliance review of a carrier if safety 
complaints about the carrier were received from other operators or passengers. The FMCSA’s 
website includes the National Consumer Complaint Database, where consumers and others can 
submit safety complaints about motor carriers.84

The database offers four options for submitting complaints electronically. Consumers and 
others can submit (1) a safety violation complaint, (2) a passenger carrier or an Americans With 
Disabilities Act complaint, (3) a household goods complaint, or (4) a hazardous materials or 
cargo tank facility complaint.

 To reach the location to file a complaint, the 
user needs to select the “Quick Links” section at the bottom right of the FMCSA home page. 

85

                                                 
82 The data presented in this table, which were provided by FMCSA headquarters staff, reflect staffing levels 

during 2011.  

 After selecting one of these four options, the reporter must select 

83 The inspector categories are not mutually exclusive because most investigators and inspectors who are 
approved to conduct compliance reviews are also qualified to conduct CMV inspections. 

84 For more information, see <http://nccdb.fmcsa.dot.gov/HomePage.asp> (accessed October 2, 2011). 
85 Consumers and others can also call a toll-free hotline to submit a complaint. The hotline telephone number 

can be found by selecting “Contact Us” under the “About FMCSA” tab on the upper right side of the FMCSA 
website’s homepage. 

http://nccdb.fmcsa.dot.gov/HomePage.asp�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

28 

the type of carrier and then confirm that the violation or safety event occurred within the last 
60 days. A reporter submitting a household goods complaint is required to provide contact 
information, including name, address, and telephone number; anonymous reports are not 
accepted. However, the FMCSA indicated that it would not disclose the identity of the person 
filing the complaint. (The other three complaint types do not require this information.) 

The NTSB spoke with FMCSA management and contractor staff who manage the 
National Consumer Complaint Database to determine how voluntary violation or safety 
complaints are handled and how the information from them is used. One FMCSA manager stated 
that information from household goods complaints was used in a formal oversight program 
known as the “Top 100 Household Goods Carrier List.”86

In addition, the FMCSA manager indicated that complaints involving passenger carriers 
were screened and “triaged” to determine those reports that warranted further attention. 
However, the FMCSA manager was unaware of the actual protocol and associated procedures 
for doing so. Summary statistics on the frequency and type of reports received are not routinely 
compiled. The NTSB does not know of any evaluations conducted by the FMCSA regarding the 
extent that passengers, drivers, and others are aware of the methods for reporting safety concerns 
and whether the current methods are easy to use. 

 This program uses information from 
inspections, violations reported by the public, and recordable accidents and considers a carrier’s 
size, number of years in business, operating authority, safety history, and vehicle inspection and 
driver inspection history to identify and prioritize the 100 worst-performing carriers. This list is 
used to help the FMCSA prioritize those carriers that need additional oversight. The 
FMCSA manager indicated that this program has not been implemented for passenger carriers 
but that the agency was considering implementing such a program. 

                                                 
86 William. A. Quade, Associate Administrator for Enforcement and Program Delivery, FMCSA, memorandum 

(regarding the Top 100 Household Goods Carrier List) to FMCSA investigation managers and staff, June 5, 2009. 
 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

29 

Chapter 4: Motorcoach Transportation Safety 
Data Analyses 

The analyses presented in this chapter were conducted primarily using data obtained from 
the FMCSA’s data portal or FMCSA staff.87

 The NTSB found that, although motorcoach carriers are required to report, every 2 years, 
their annual fleet mileage to the FMCSA using the MCS-150 form, 32 percent of all motorcoach 
carriers did not report any annual mileage. Another 32 percent of the carriers had not updated 
their annual mileage since 2008. The lack of reliable annual mileage information for 64 percent 
of all motorcoach carriers renders this source of information as unsuitable for use in analysis. 
Typically, the number of miles traveled is used to calculate rates so that meaningful comparisons 
can be made, including those between curbside and conventional carriers. Because such 
comparisons were not possible in this analysis, the NTSB used the total number of vehicles 
operated by a carrier as a replacement exposure measure. 

 These data included motorcoach carrier information 
and relevant accident, inspection, and compliance review data for the carrier. 

Methods 

Qualitative Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Type of Service 

According to FMCSA data, a total of 1,251,861 active commercial motor carriers were 
operating in the United States as of April 22, 2011. The total number of interstate motor carriers 
and intrastate hazardous materials carriers under the jurisdiction of the FMCSA was 765,221. Of 
these carriers, 21,998 were interstate passenger carriers. 

As stated in chapter 1, the NTSB utilized a three-step procedure to classify passenger 
carriers that operated motorcoaches based on the type of service that the carriers provided. First, 
a passenger carrier was identified as a motorcoach carrier if it met the following criteria: 

• the carrier was authorized for interstate operation, 

• the carrier was authorized to conduct “for-hire only” or “for-hire and private” service, 

• the carrier was considered active by the FMCSA,88

                                                 
87 The FMCSA data portal (<

 and 

https://portal.fmcsa.dot.gov>) provides single sign-on access to numerous central 
and field data systems. For this report, the NTSB used the FMCSA’s portal to obtain access to, and extract data 
from, the MCMIS and the analysis and information databases. Detailed information about the FMCSA data systems 
can be found at <http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/infosys/publicinformationsystems/publiccoresystems.aspx>. 
(Both websites were accessed on October 6, 2011.) FMCSA staff extracted detailed inspection data during a 
24-month period for a list of 4,172 motorcoach carriers. 

88 The FMCSA has different means for recognizing a carrier that is no longer active. According to the field 
administrator of the FMCSA’s Eastern Service Center, a motor carrier can contact the FMCSA to advise that the 
carrier is no longer in business. Also, the FMCSA field offices periodically review carrier records to inactivate those 
carriers with an undeliverable address and no inspections, accidents, and reviews for many years and those carriers 
that appear to be out of business. Further, the FMCSA can also inactivate a carrier record after a 6- to 12-month 
period of monitoring following an OOS order, which shuts down the carrier’s operation.  

https://portal.fmcsa.dot.gov/�
http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/about/infosys/publicinformationsystems/publiccoresystems.aspx�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

30 

• the carrier owned at least one motorcoach. 

 This effort produced a list of 4,172 active U.S. interstate motorcoach carriers. The 
second step in the procedure was to identify which of the 4,172 carriers provided interstate 
scheduled regular route services and which ones did not provide such service. For a motorcoach 
carrier to be considered a provider of interstate scheduled regular route service, the carrier 
needed to meet one of the following criteria: 

• the carrier was listed in an online directory of intercity bus services,89

• the carrier had applied for regular route authority and had been accepted to provide 
regular route services between 2005 and 2011;

 and the 
carrier’s services extended beyond one state; 

90

• the carrier was identified as an affiliate of companies whose primary operation was 
scheduled service,

 

91

• the carrier sold its tickets through online ticket booking services,

 
92

• the carrier had been identified by the FMCSA as a curbside service provider in 
2009.

 or 

93

Once the list of carriers providing interstate scheduled regular route service was 
developed, the NTSB used online resources to verify that these carriers did in fact provide these 
services. This effort resulted in a list of 122 scheduled service carriers. The 4,050 interstate 
motorcoach carriers that did not meet the selection criteria were considered nonscheduled other 
carriers. (The nonscheduled other carriers provided mostly charter or tour services.) 

 

The last step was to identify which of the 122 scheduled service carriers provided 
curbside service and which ones showed no evidence of providing curbside service. The NTSB 
researched each carrier’s company website and used online ticket booking services to determine 
the type of scheduled interstate services provided by the carriers. Most scheduled interstate 
motorcoach carriers have some stops that are not within a terminal. As a result, to be classified as 
providing curbside service, evidence was needed showing that the carriers had routes that 

                                                 
89 Online directories of intercity bus services include <http://users.rcn.com/lawhughes/index.htm> and 

<http://www.aibra.org/> (both of which were accessed on September 23, 2011). 
90 Regular route is contained within scope of authority during the application process using the OP-1(P) form. 

As stated in chapter 1, before March 2009, the FMCSA required applicants seeking for-hire authority to transport 
passengers along regular routes to submit a detailed description and map of the route(s) along which they proposed 
to operate. The FMCSA discontinued this requirement after that date but still requires scheduled carriers to indicate 
their scope of authority. 

91 The NTSB recognized that many carriers providing interstate scheduled services were affiliates of 
Coach USA, Coach America, and Trailways. 

92 One online ticket booking service used to make this determination was Gotobus.com. 
93 This list of curbside carriers was obtained from the FMCSA’s Eastern Service Center, which had developed 

the list to support a project. 

http://users.rcn.com/lawhughes/index.htm�
http://www.aibra.org/�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

31 

originated or terminated at locations other than terminals, such as at a street corner or outside of 
a retail business. 

Of the 122 scheduled carriers that provided scheduled interstate services, 71 were 
identified as curbside carriers, and 51 were identified as conventional carriers. The public docket 
for this report contains a list of the 122 motorcoach carriers that provided scheduled interstate 
service, including the 71 carriers that were identified as providing curbside service.94 Figure 2a 
shows the distribution of commercial motor carriers, passenger carriers, motorcoach carriers, and 
curbside carriers. Figure 2b shows the distribution of power units for these carriers.95

There is uncertainty associated with the identification of curbside motorcoach carriers 
because regulatory authorities have not developed a formal definition or category for these carriers. 
This investigation could not account for that uncertainty or for missing or inaccurate data from 
FMCSA data sources. The analyses conducted in this investigation accurately depict the results from 
the comparisons of the various motorcoach carriers defined in this report based on the data available 
from the FMCSA. Applying these results to different groups of motorcoach carriers would require 
additional categorization of the motorcoach carrier groups and new analyses. 

 

 

Figure 2a. Distribution of Commercial Motor Carriers, Passenger Carriers, 
Motorcoach Carriers, and Curbside Carriers. 

                                                 
94 The docket for this report can be found on the NTSB’s website at <http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms 

.html>. A listing of the 4,050 interstate motorcoach carriers that were considered nonscheduled other carriers is also 
included in the docket. 

95 A power unit is considered to be the primary drive unit in a tractor-trailer combination vehicle. The term is 
also used for buses, single-unit trucks, and other vehicles used for interstate transportation. 

http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms.html�
http://www.ntsb.gov/investigations/dms.html�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

32 

 

Figure 2b. Distribution of Power Units Operated by Commercial Motor Carriers, Passenger 
Carriers, Motorcoach Carriers, and Curbside Carriers. 

The NTSB’s three-step, evidence-based procedure might have underestimated the 
number of carriers providing scheduled service and, more specifically, curbside service. 
However, without any official systematic mechanism to classify and identify motorcoach carriers 
by service type, the three-step procedure provided the best estimates. 

Quantitative Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Accident 
and Inspection History 

The NTSB used a quantitative approach to classify all of the 4,172 motorcoach carriers 
based on their overall accident and inspection history. The following three sets of data derived 
from the MCMIS were used for this classification: 

• The first data set included motorcoach inspections conducted and violations observed 
during an inspection between January 2007 and March 2011. 

• The second data set included a more detailed listing of all bus inspections between 
April 2009 and March 2011.96

                                                 
96 These inspections included all commercial vehicles owned by the motorcoach carriers. (The vehicles were 

not limited to motorcoaches.) These data were supplied directly by FMCSA staff. 

 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

33 

• The third data set included all reported accidents involving buses (with at least nine 
seats) that occurred between January 2005 and March 2011.97

Some motorcoach carriers were not in operation during the entire period covered by the 
inspection data (January 2007 to March 2011 for motorcoach inspections and April 2009 to 
March 2011 for all bus inspections). As a result, the NTSB derived adjustment factors using the 
number of months that a carrier had been in business relative to the length of the inspection 
records.

 

98

The NTSB calculated the adjusted inspection, violation, and OOS violation rates

 

99

Table 5. Variables Developed From Accident and Inspection Data. 

 and 
expressed these rates per 100 vehicles (based on the number of vehicles operated) for each 
motorcoach carrier during the two inspection periods. Also, the adjusted accident rates for each 
motorcoach carrier from January 2005 to March 2011 were computed using a similar approach. 
The NTSB considered all reported accidents, nonfatal accidents, and fatal accidents, and the 
death and injured person rates per 100 vehicles were computed accordingly. In addition, the 
NTSB examined information on the number of states where inspections occurred as well as the 
percent of roadside motorcoach inspections for reasons other than traffic enforcement. This work 
resulted in the development of the 12 variables shown in table 5, which were used for subsequent 
analyses. 

Variable Data period 

Adjusted overall accident rate 2005 to 2011 

Adjusted injured person or fatal accident rate 2005 to 2011 

Adjusted fatal accident rate 2005 to 2011 

Adjusted death rate 2005 to 2011 

Adjusted injured person rate 2005 to 2011 

Adjusted motorcoach inspection rate 2007 to 2011 

Adjusted inspection rate (all buses) 2009 to 2011 

Adjusted motorcoach OOS rate 2007 to 2011 

Adjusted violation rate (all buses) 2009 to 2011 

Adjusted OOS rate (all buses) 2009 to 2011 

Number of states where motorcoach inspections occurred 2009 to 2011 

Percent of nontraffic enforcement motorcoach inspections 2009 to 2011 

                                                 
97 Some of the buses involved in reported accidents were not linked to valid DOT numbers. The NTSB 

evaluated the company names reported in the accident records and linked these records to as many DOT numbers as 
possible. 

98 For example, a carrier in business for only 1 year would have an adjustment factor of 0.2 for motorcoach 
inspections (because the carrier had been in operation for 20 percent of the inspection data’s 4-year period) and 
0.5 for all passenger vehicle inspections (because the carrier had been in operation for 50 percent of the inspection 
data’s 2-year period). 

99 In this chapter, the term “OOS violations” refers to OOS orders resulting from inspections. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

34 

These variables reflect somewhat different aspects of the overall safety record of the 
carriers, but the variables are highly correlated with each other. As a result, a principal 
component analysis (PCA)100

To evaluate the type of violations, the NTSB further categorized the carriers using the 
more detailed inspection data (from April 2009 to March 2011) obtained directly from the 
FMCSA. Each detailed inspection record contained 50 specific violation codes.

 was used to define composite variables that could be used to 
categorize the 4,172 carriers. This analysis produced three principal components that accounted 
for most of the variance in the data and were, by definition, uncorrelated with each other. The 
principal components were defined by the accident variables and inspection and violation 
variables. On the basis of the carriers’ principal component scores, the following three categories 
were identified: (1) those carriers with high accident rates, (2) those carriers with high inspection 
and violation rates, and (3) all other carriers not defined by high accident or inspection/violation 
indicators. 

101

Table 6. Seven Violation Categories  
Used in Detailed Analyses. 

 These specific 
violations were arranged into the seven violation categories shown in table 6. 

Violation category 

Driver fitness violation 

Driver fitness OOS violation 

Fatigued driving violation 

Fatigued driving OOS violation 

Vehicle maintenance violation 

Vehicle maintenance OOS violation 

Unsafe driving violation 

 

The NTSB found that 2,652 motorcoach carriers (64 percent) were inspected at least once 
between April 2009 and March 2011. The adjusted violation rate (per 100 vehicles during the 
2-year period) for each of the seven violation groups was computed. The carriers that ranked 
among the top 10 percent (that is, in the 90th percentile) in each of the seven violation groups 
were identified. This additional step augmented the PCA results by further highlighting carriers 
with severe violation rates. 

                                                 
100 PCA is a statistical method that evaluates the correlations among a set of variables to create linear 

combinations of the original variables that are uncorrelated (orthogonal). The number of these linear combinations, 
or principal components, is constrained to be less than or equal to the number of original variables. This 
transformation is defined so that the first principal component accounts for as much of the variability in the data as 
possible and that each succeeding component has the highest possible percent of variance explained, with the 
constraint that the component be uncorrelated with the preceding components. 

101 Examples of specific violation codes are “10/15 hours of service violation” and “disqualified drivers 
violation.” 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

35 

Analysis Results 

Characteristics of Motorcoach Carriers 

Motorcoach carriers are located throughout the United States. California has the highest 
number of motorcoach carriers, comprising 11 percent of all 4,172 U.S. motorcoach carriers, 
followed by New York, Texas, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania; 35 percent of all U.S. motorcoach 
carriers are located in these five states. Scheduled route service carriers are located in 29 states. 
New York has 25 motorcoach carriers offering some form of scheduled route service, and 14 of 
these carriers offer curbside service. Pennsylvania has the highest number of carriers providing 
curbside service with 16 such carriers. Most of the scheduled route service carriers (including 
curbside carriers) are based near large metropolitan areas, especially along the northeast corridor, 
as shown in figure 3. 

 

Figure 3. Locations of U.S. Motorcoach Carriers by Service Type. 

Figure 4 shows that 35 percent of curbside carriers have 10 or fewer motorcoaches, 
whereas 61 percent of conventional carriers and 86 percent of nonscheduled other carriers have 
10 or fewer motorcoaches. Table 7 shows that 52 percent of curbside carriers, 63 percent of 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

36 

conventional carriers, and 58 percent of nonscheduled other carriers have been in business for 
10 years or less. 

Curbside (71) Conventional (51) Nonscheduled other (4,050) 

   

Figure 4. Distribution of Carriers by Number of Motorcoaches and Service Type. 

Table 7. Motorcoach Carriers in Business for 10 Years of Less. 

Service type (number of carriers) Number Percent 

Curbside (71) 37 52 

Conventional (51) 32 63 

Nonscheduled other (4,050) 2,338 58 

 Total (4,172) 2,407 58 

 

New Entrant Safety Assurance Program 

Since the New Entrant Safety Assurance Program began in 2003, 31 curbside and 
28 conventional carriers had successfully completed the program by May 2011. As of 
May 13, 2011, the program was monitoring 221 motorcoach carriers of all types. Two of these 
carriers provide curbside service, and one provides conventional service. 

Accident History of Motorcoach Carriers, January 2005 to December 2010 

According to state crash data compiled by the FMCSA, 1,254 of the 4,172 motorcoach 
carriers had been involved in at least one reported accident from January 2005 to 
December 2010. These motorcoach carriers were involved in a total of 6,019 accidents, 191 of 
which were fatal (resulting in 262 deaths) and 3,134 of which were nonfatal injury accidents 
(injuring 9,062 people). 

Table 8 shows the number of accidents, deaths, and injured persons involving 
motorcoach carriers (based on the FMCSA’s MCMIS data from 2005 to 2010). On average, 

5 
(7%) 

20 
(28%) 

40 
(56%) 

6 
(9%) 

1 2-10 11-100 >100 

7 
(14%) 

24 
(47%) 

16 
(31%) 

4 
(8%) 

1 2-10 11-100 >100 

1,509 
(37%) 

1,991 
(49%) 

529 
(13%) 

21 
(1%) 

1 2-10 11-100 >100 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

37 

motorcoach carriers were involved in 1,003 reported accidents, 32 fatal accidents resulting in 
44 deaths, and 505 nonfatal accidents that injured at least one person. 

Table 8. Number of Accidents, Deaths, and Injured Persons Involving Motorcoach Carriers. 

Year All accidents 
Fatal 

accidents 

Nonfatal 
injury 

accidents 

Property 
damage-only 

accidents Deaths 
Injured 
persons 

2005 910 34 449 427 43 1,250 

2006 866 25 447 394 31 1,530 

2007 1,064 33 543 488 40 1,657 

2008 1,004 33 508 463 62 1,737 

2009 1,091 38 541 512 45 1,493 

2010 1,084 28 539 517 41 1,395 

 Average 1,003 32 505 467 44 1,510 

Inspection History of Motorcoach Carriers, April 2009 to March 2011 

Table 9 shows the distribution of carriers that received at least one inspection between 
April 2009 and March 2011. Eight percent of curbside carriers, 12 percent of conventional 
carriers, and 37 percent of nonscheduled other carriers did not have inspections during that 
period, which is important to note because the CSA program depends on data derived, in large 
part, from these inspections. 

Table 9. Number of Motorcoach Carrier Inspections by Service Type, April 2009 to March 2011. 

 Carriers with no inspection Carriers with at least one inspection  

Service type Number Percent Number Percent Total 

Curbside 6 8 65 92 71 

Conventional 6 12 45 88 51 

Nonscheduled other 1,508 37 2,542 63 4,050 

 Total 1,520 36 2,652 64 4,172 

 
For curbside carriers, 58 percent of all roadside inspections were level III driver-only 

inspections, and 18 percent were level II walk-around inspections. For conventional carriers, 
36 percent of all roadside inspections were level III driver-only inspections, and 48 percent were 
level II walk-around inspections. For nonscheduled other carriers, level V vehicle-only 
inspections occurred most frequently (31 percent) followed by level III driver-only inspections 
(26 percent). Level I full inspections comprised 12 and 11 percent of all roadside inspections for 
curbside and conventional carriers, respectively, but comprised 25 percent of all roadside 
inspections for nonscheduled other carriers, as shown in figure 5. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

38 

Curbside (71) Conventional (51) Nonscheduled other (4,050) 

   

Figure 5. Number of Roadside Inspections by Inspection Level and Service Type, January 2005 
to March 2011. 

Compliance Reviews and Safety Audits, January 2007 to April 2011 

From January 2007 to April 2011, the FMCSA conducted 3,691 compliance reviews for 
motorcoach carriers, representing 76 percent of all compliance reviews for passenger carriers. Figure 
6 shows the distribution of ratings resulting from these compliance reviews. Most compliance 
reviews (85 percent) resulted in satisfactory ratings, 44 compliance reviews (1 percent) resulted in 
unsatisfactory ratings, and 448 compliance reviews (12 percent) resulted in conditional ratings. 

 

Figure 6. Distribution of Compliance Review Ratings for 
Motorcoach Carriers, January 2007 to April 2011. 

2,688 
(12%) 

4,132 
(18%) 

13,068 
(58%) 

2,655 
(12%) 

I: Full II: Walk-around 
III: Driver only V: Vehicle-only 

691 
(11%) 

2,888 
(48%) 

2,294 
(36%) 

524 
(8%) 

I: Full II: Walk-around 
III: Driver only V: Vehicle-only 

15,710 
(25%) 

12,127 
(19%) 

16,334 
(26%) 

19,810 
(31%) 

I: Full II: Walk-around 
III: Driver only V: Vehicle-only 

59 
(2%) 

448 
(12%) 

3,140 
(85%) 

44 
(1%) 

No rating Conditional 
Satisfactory Unsatisfactory 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

39 

Table 10 provides data on the 3,794 motorcoach carriers that had been in business for 
more than 18 months. Among these carriers, 87 percent of curbside carriers, 94 percent of 
conventional carriers, and 65 percent of nonscheduled other carriers received at least one 
compliance review between January 2007 and April 2011. Of the 1,303 motorcoach carriers that 
received no compliance review during that period, 252 (19 percent) received at least one safety 
audit. 

Table 10. Compliance Reviews for Motorcoach Carriers With More Than 18 Months in 
Business, January 2007 to April 2011. 

Service type (number of carriers) 

Number of carriers with 
Percent of carriers 
with at least one 

compliance review 
At least one 

compliance review No compliance review 

Curbside (67) 58 9 87 

Conventional (47) 44 3 94 

Nonscheduled other (3,680) 2,389 1,291 65 

 Total (3,794) 2,491 1,303 66 

 

Between January 2007 and April 2011, the FMCSA evaluated the safety performance of 
most scheduled service carriers, including those providing curbside service, by conducting 
compliance reviews, safety audits, and roadside inspections. Figure 7 shows the combined efforts 
of the FMCSA using all three oversight activities.102

                                                 
102 These federal and state oversight activities are not mutually exclusive. 

 The figure shows that 82 percent of 
curbside carriers had received at least one compliance review, 24 percent had received at least 
one safety audit, and 92 percent had received at least one roadside inspection. In all, 96 percent 
of curbside carriers were reached by FMCSA federal and state oversight activities. Of the three 
curbside carriers with no compliance review, safety audit, or roadside inspection, two had been 
in business for less than 18 months. For conventional and nonscheduled other carriers, 98 and 
78 percent of carriers were reached, respectively. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

40 

 

Figure 7. Percent of Motorcoach Carriers Receiving Federal or State Oversight, January 2007 
to April 2011. 

Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Accident and 
Inspection History 

PCA category 1 included 233 carriers whose highest principal component score was 
influenced by the accident variables. The NTSB was primarily interested in 74 of the 233 carriers 
because they ranked in the 90th percentile in at least one violation or OOS violation category. 
These 74 carriers were considered to have the worst safety records of the 4,172 interstate 
motorcoach carriers. PCA category 2 included 279 carriers with high inspection and violation 
rates. These carriers generally had a higher number of inspections and a higher number of 
inspection and OOS violations but did not have high accident rates. The operational 
characteristics of these 353 carriers were evaluated in more detail and compared with all of the 
remaining carriers to determine the elements that might be associated with the substandard safety 
performance of the 353 carriers. Table 11 describes the PCA categories and shows the number of 
carriers in each category. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

41 

Table 11. Number of Motorcoach Carriers by Principal Component Analysis Category and 90th 
Percentile Analysis Results. 

PCA category Description Number of motorcoach carriers 

1 High overall accident rates and ranking above the 90th 
percentile in one of seven violation and OOS violation 
categories 

74 

2 High overall inspection and violation rates and ranking 
above the 90th percentile in one of seven violation 
and OOS violation categories 

279 

3 All remaining carriers (grouped for comparison 
purposes) 

3,819 

 

Operational Characteristics of Motorcoach Carriers With Substandard Accident 
and Inspection History 

Size and History of Carriers 

The NTSB determined that two thresholds were useful for comparing carriers in PCA 
categories 1 (high accident rates) and 2 (high inspection and violation rates) with carriers in PCA 
category 3 (the comparison category). These two thresholds were carriers with 1 to 10 
motorcoaches and carriers with up to 10 years in business. Table 12 shows that 96 percent of 
carriers in the high accident rate category, 91 percent of carriers in the high inspection and 
violation rate category, and 85 percent of carriers in the comparison category had 1 to 
10 motorcoaches. Regarding time in business, the high inspection and violation rate category had 
the highest percent of carriers (71 percent) that had been in business for up to 10 years. 

Table 12. Number of Carriers With Up to 10 Motorcoaches and Up to 10 Years in Business. 

  1 to 10 motorcoaches Up to 10 years in business 

Category (number of carriers) 
Number of 

carriers 
Percent of 

carriers  
Number of 

carriers 
Percent of 

carriers  

1: High accident rate (74) 71 96 42 57 

2: High inspection and violation rates 
(279) 

255 91 198 71 

3: Comparison (3,819) 3,230 85 2,167 57 

Total (4,172) 3,556 85 2,407 58 

 

Type of Service Provided 

The relationship between the type of service provided by a carrier and the carrier’s 
accident and inspection history was examined. Table 13 shows that, although curbside carriers 
comprised 2 percent of all motorcoach carriers, they comprised 5 percent of carriers in the high 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

42 

accident rate category and 6 percent of carriers in the high inspection and high violation rate 
category. 

Table 13. Accident, Inspection, and Violation Rates by Type of Service. 

 

Curbside Conventional Nonscheduled other 

Category (number of carriers) 
Number of 

carriers Percent 
Number of 

carriers Percent 
Number of 

carriers Percent 

1: High accident rate (74) 4 5 0 0 70 95 

2: High inspection and violation 
rates (279) 

16 6 9 3 254 91 

3: Comparison (3,819) 51 1 42 1 3,726 98 

Total (4,172) 71 2 51 1 4,050 97 

 

Although table 13 indicates that a total of 20 curbside carriers were categorized as having 
either high accident rates or high inspection and violation rates, the remaining 51 curbside 
carriers were not considered to have high rates in either category. Further analyses of the 
operational characteristics of the curbside carriers showed that the 20 curbside carriers operated 
fewer motorcoaches (averaging 17 motorcoaches compared with 63 motorcoaches operated by 
the 51 remaining curbside carriers) and that they had less time in business (with a median time of 
6 years compared with 16 years for the 51 remaining curbside carriers). 

Linked Drivers or Vehicles 

FMCSA investigators expressed concern during the focus groups about the practice of 
sharing drivers and motorcoaches among different motorcoach carriers. The NTSB could not 
measure the extent that drivers and motorcoaches were shared but could examine inspection 
records to determine whether inspected drivers and inspected vehicles had been associated with 
more than one motorcoach carrier.103

                                                 
103 The number of drivers identified in this data analysis as being linked to more than one motorcoach carrier 

during a 24-month period does not imply that the drivers are still working for more than one carrier. Data on the 
linkage of vehicles were based on inspection records from January 2007 to March 2011. 

 It is also possible that vehicles linked to more than one 
carrier were operating under lease arrangements. Table 14 shows that carriers assigned to PCA 
categories 1 and 2 had higher percentages of either linked drivers or vehicles than the 
percentages for PCA category 3. Specifically, 38 percent of drivers and 33 percent of vehicles 
for carriers in the high accident rate category were linked to other carriers compared with 
26 percent of drivers and 29 percent of vehicles for carriers in the comparison group. Similarly, 
31 percent of drivers and 40 percent of vehicles for carriers in the high inspection and violation 
rate category were linked to other carriers. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

43 

Table 14. Percent of Inspected Drivers and Vehicles Linked With More 
Than One Company. 

Category 
Percent of inspected 

drivers linked 
Percent of inspected 

vehicles linked 

1: High accident rate 38 33 

2: High inspection and violation rates 31 40 

3: Comparison 26 29 

 

On average, curbside carriers had 14 percent of their inspected drivers linked to other 
carriers, conventional carriers had 8 percent, and nonscheduled carriers had 5 percent, as shown 
in figure 8. The figure also shows that conventional carriers had 23 percent of their inspected 
vehicles linked to other carriers, curbside carriers had 12 percent, and nonscheduled other 
carriers had 11 percent. 

 

Figure 8. Percent of Inspected Drivers and Vehicles 
Linked With More Than One Carrier. 

Comparison of Accident, Inspection, and Violation Rates by Service Type 

The NTSB compared the accident and OOS violation rates among the three types of 
motorcoach carriers (curbside, conventional, and nonscheduled other service). Adjusted accident 

14 
12 

8 

23 

5 

11 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

Inspected drivers 
linked 

Inspected vehicles 
linked 

Curbside Conventional Nonscheduled other 

Pe
rc

en
t 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

44 

rates, inspection violation rates, and OOS violation rates were computed for each motorcoach 
carrier. These rates were then averaged by service type. There was a high degree of variation in 
these rates among carriers within each service type. Figures 9 and 10 compare the rates for the 
three types of carriers. 

Figure 9 shows that curbside carriers had the highest overall accident rates and the 
highest death and injured person rates among the three service types. There were 1.4 fatal 
accidents per 100 vehicles operated by curbside carriers from January 2005 to March 2011 
compared with 0.2 fatal accidents per 100 vehicles operated by conventional carriers. The death 
rate (number of people killed per 100 vehicles) was 1.9 for curbside carriers compared with 0.2 
for conventional carriers. Figure 10 shows that curbside carriers had a higher driver fitness OOS 
violation rate of 13.8 compared with 4.7 for conventional carriers as well as a higher fatigued 
driving OOS rate (16.7 versus 11.2), whereas conventional carriers had a slightly higher unsafe 
driving violation rate and vehicle maintenance OOS violation rate.  



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

45 

Overall accident rate Injury and fatal accident rate 

  
Fatal accident rate Death rate 

  
Injured persons rate  

  
Vertical lines indicate 95-percent confidence interval for mean rate. 

Figure 9. Average Rates for Overall Accidents, Injury and Fatal Accidents, Deaths, and Injured 
Persons by Service Type, January 2005 to March 2011. 

24.3 

19.1 

9.9 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 13.8 

10.3 

5.4 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

1.4 

0.2 
0.6 

0 

1 

2 

3 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

1.9 

0.2 

0.9 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

35.2 

20.5 18.7 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

46 

Unsafe driving violation rate Driver fitness OOS violation rate 

  

Fatigue OOS violation rate Vehicle maintenance OOS violation rate 

  

Vertical lines indicate 95-percent confidence interval for mean rate. 

Figure 10. Average Violation Rates and Out-of-Service Violation Rates by Service Type, April 
2009 to March 2011. 

The comparisons presented in figures 9 and 10 were based on averaging rates among the 
carriers within each service type. It is important to note that some curbside carriers had very high 
rates, whereas others had very low rates. Many nonscheduled other carriers also had very high rates. 
In fact, table 13 showed that only 20 curbside carriers were categorized as having a high accident rate 
or high inspection and violation rates. A total of 324 nonscheduled other carriers were categorized 
into the high accident rate or the high inspection and violation rate categories. 

Additional analyses of accidents were conducted but were limited to curbside and 
conventional carriers only. Nonscheduled other carriers were excluded from these analyses 

22.4 

26.4 

5.7 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

13.8 

4.7 4.5 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

16.7 

11.2 

4.8 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 

49.6 55.6 

20.8 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

Curbside           
(71) 

Conventional       
(51) 

Nonscheduled 
other           

(4,050) 

Pe
r 1

00
 v

eh
ic

le
s 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

47 

because they have different operating practices and likely have lower mileage.104

Curbside (71) 

 Figure 11 
shows that, among scheduled carriers, curbside carriers were involved in 45 percent of all 
reported accidents and 43 percent of injury accidents from January 2005 to March 2011. These 
rates were lower than might be expected considering that curbside carriers represented 
58 percent of all scheduled motorcoach carriers and operated 52 percent of all scheduled 
motorcoaches (as indicated by the dashed and solid black lines in the figure). Conventional 
carriers represented 42 percent of all scheduled carriers and operated 48 percent of all scheduled 
motorcoaches. These carriers were more likely to be involved in a reported accident (55 percent) 
or an injury accident (58 percent) than curbside carriers. Curbside carriers had higher 
percentages than conventional carriers for fatal accidents (57 percent), number of deaths 
(64 percent), and number of injured persons (58 percent). Thus, the data indicated that curbside 
accidents were more likely to result in injury or death for road users involved in an accident. 

Conventional (51) 

  

Figure 11. Distribution of Accidents, January 2005 to March 2011. 

  

                                                 
104 Nonscheduled other carriers were not included in this comparison because the NTSB believes that scheduled 

motorcoaches (curbside and conventional) travel more miles per motorcoach in a given year. Consequently, 
scheduled motorcoach carriers would likely experience more accidents per motorcoach than nonscheduled carriers 
because of the higher mileage exposure. 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

All 
reported 
accidents 

Injury 
accidents 

Fatal 
accidents 

Deaths Injured 
persons 

Pe
rc

en
t  

58% of all scheduled carriers 

924 503 37 52 1,917 

52% of all motorcoaches operated 
by scheduled carriers 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

All 
reported 
accidents 

Injury 
accidents 

Fatal 
accidents 

Deaths Injured 
persons 

Pe
rc

en
t  

1,158 671 28 29 1,370 

42% of all scheduled carriers 

48% of all motorcoaches operated  
by scheduled carriers 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

48 

These analyses were calculated as rates per carrier or per number of motorcoaches. 
Exposure based on mileage is a significant, but unaccounted for, factor. To provide a more 
complete representation, a similar analysis using mileage is warranted. However, until this 
information is accurately and reliably provided on the MCS-150 form, as required by the 
FMCSA, such an analysis is not possible. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

49 

Chapter 5: Curbside Motorcoach Transportation 
Qualitative Findings 

Qualitative research methods are commonly used in several fields of study, including 
transportation safety, to provide insight on complex questions relating to behavior. Qualitative 
research can provide in-depth information about possible causes of safety problems and potential 
solutions that are not available through quantitative data analyses.105

Focus groups are a useful tool for research. In the 1940s, academic researchers 
recognized the value of focus groups for understanding attitudes, beliefs, and behaviors.

 For this investigation, 
qualitative data were collected through focus groups to help to answer the questions of why and 
how motorcoach safety violations occur; these data complement the quantitative data presented 
in chapter 4. 

106

A focus group consists of a small group of knowledgeable people discussing topics of 
interest while being led by a skilled moderator. A focus group usually lasts about 2 hours, and 
about five to eight participants are typically in a single group, which is an optimum size to 
stimulate discussion. Questions that are designed to be open ended are asked by the moderator, 
who ensures that all participants have an opportunity to express their views on the topics of 
interest. A single person’s contribution can trigger comments from other participants. The 
information discussed in focus groups is typically recorded and transcribed so that the results can 
be analyzed. 

 
Standardized methods for conducting focus groups and analyzing acquired information are now 
well developed. Focus groups do not necessarily represent the populations of interest, as surveys 
do, and cannot indicate how prevalent a behavior or an attitude is within the population. 
However, focus groups can help establish that specific behaviors and attitudes are present within 
a population and can help provide valuable insight into understanding the topics of interest. 

As stated in chapter 1, the NTSB conducted four focus groups. The first focus group 
consisted of nine state personnel from two New Jersey law enforcement agencies who conduct 
roadside inspections and some compliance reviews of interstate motorcoach carriers. The second 
focus group consisted of 12 FMCSA safety investigators based in New Jersey, New York, and 
Pennsylvania who conduct compliance reviews. The last two focus groups involved a total of 
11 motorcoach drivers who had a broad range of driving experience. Their work involved 
charter/tour operations and scheduled motorcoach operations, including curbside operations. 

All of the focus group participants were volunteers. At the beginning of each focus group, 
the NTSB moderator explained the purpose of the focus group and the procedures to be 
followed. The moderator also emphasized that the discussion would be recorded but that the 

                                                 
105 N.J. Thompson, “Study Methods for Understanding Injury Behavior,” chapter 8 in Injury and Violence 

Prevention: Behavioral Science Theories, Methods, and Applications, ed. A.C. Gielen, D.A. Sleet, and 
R.J. DiClemente (San Francisco: John Wiley & Sons, 2006). 

106 R.A. Krueger and M.A. Casey, Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research (Thousand Oaks, 
California: Sage Publications, 2009). 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

50 

recordings would be destroyed once the conversation was transcribed. The participants’ names 
were not collected. Summaries of the focus group discussions appear in the public docket for this 
report. 

Motorcoach Driver Fatigue 

The NTSB has a long history of issuing recommendations to prevent fatigue-related 
highway accidents, and addressing human fatigue is an issue currently on the NTSB’s Most 
Wanted List, which represents the NTSB’s advocacy priorities and is designed to increase 
awareness of, and support for, the most critical changes needed to reduce transportation 
accidents and save lives. From 1998 to 2010, motorcoach driver fatigue was determined to be a 
factor in seven motorcoach accidents that resulted in 46 fatalities.107

Interstate motorcoach drivers are subject to rules limiting how long they can drive.

 

108

State inspectors and federal safety investigators expressed concern about the extended 
work hours permitted by current HOS rules for motorcoach drivers, pointing out that these work 
hours can lead to fatigue. In addition, the officials said that 8 hours of off-duty time does not 
provide motorcoach drivers with adequate opportunities to sleep because activities such as 
meals, personal hygiene, and wind-down time are included in the allotted time. 

 
Specifically, motorcoach drivers must be off duty for 8 hours before they are allowed to drive 
10 nonconsecutive hours. Driving is not permitted after logging 15 hours of on-duty time, but the 
15 hours may not always be consecutive, and the hours can extend over a longer time period if 
the driver takes breaks. Specifically, motorcoach drivers can log themselves off duty between 
driving periods and can legally lengthen their work day by doing so. Motorcoach drivers may be 
allowed to drive even if more than 14 hours have elapsed since starting their work day. Driving 
is also not permitted after a driver’s cumulative logged on-duty time has reached 60 hours within 
a 7-day period or 70 hours within an 8-day period. Federal safety investigators participating in 
focus groups indicated that some drivers have few opportunities to take breaks while transporting 
passengers. Further, drivers spend a substantial amount of time performing work that does not 
involve driving; such work includes conducting pre- and post-trip inspections, filling out 
logbooks and other paperwork, assisting passengers, and loading luggage. 

To demonstrate compliance with the HOS regulations, drivers are required to maintain 
handwritten logbooks; the voluntary use of automated (mechanical or electronic) recorders for 
this purpose is permitted. State inspectors described drivers as being adept at masking violations 
of these regulations. For example, inspectors have reviewed logbooks in which drivers had filled 
out their logs ahead of time or had waited to fill out their logs until after they reached their 
destination. Logbook violations are regulated under FMCSR section 395.8 and are a component 
of fatigued driving violations. The two main categories of logbook violations are falsified 
logbook violations and general log violations (including no log and a log that is not current). 

                                                 
107 As stated in chapter 2, a list of 19 motorcoach accidents investigated by the NTSB between 1998 and 2010 

appears in the public docket for this report.  
108 Title 49 CFR Parts 385, 386, 390, 392, 395, et al., Hours of Service of Drivers. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

51 

As previously stated, 2,652 motorcoach carriers received at least one inspection from 
April 2009 to March 2011. Among curbside carriers, 65 carriers received at least one inspection, 
representing 2 percent of all inspected motorcoach carriers. However, curbside carriers received 
20 percent of all false logbook violations and 16 percent of all general log violations issued to 
the 2,652 motorcoach carriers. Also, curbside carriers received 26 percent of all false logbook 
OOS violations and 14 percent of all general log OOS violations. 

Among conventional carriers, 45 carriers received at least one inspection, which also 
represented 2 percent of all inspected motorcoach carriers. These carriers received 4 percent of 
all false logbook violations and 4 percent of all general log violations issued to the 
2,652 motorcoach carriers. Also, conventional carriers received 4 percent of all false logbook 
OOS violations and 4 percent of all general log OOS violations. 

State inspectors and federal safety investigators said that detecting falsified logbooks was 
a continuing challenge and that they supported the use of electronic onboard recorders to 
determine driving hours. To verify driving hours, state inspectors currently use toll and fuel 
receipts. However, because of the widespread use of toll transponders, such as E-ZPass, 
inspectors do not have immediate access to toll receipts. Also, inspectors may not have access to 
fuel receipts if a large motorcoach operator has its own fuel pump or has contracted with a 
supplier that does not provide date- and time-stamped fuel receipts. 

Concerns Identified by State Inspectors and Federal Safety 
Investigators 

In addition to the difficulties they face in detecting falsification of logbooks, the state 
inspectors and federal safety investigators face other challenges, as indicated below. 

En route inspections are prohibited by law. As a result, drivers can only be inspected 
after they have dropped off passengers or if they are at a planned stop location (unless police 
officers believe that an imminent hazard exists). This constraint hampers oversight of curbside 
and other motorcoach carriers because drivers on particular routes or nighttime trips might be 
able to avoid inspections, especially those conducted at fixed sites that can be bypassed, such as 
rest stops. Another challenge is that inspections of curbside carriers must take place on streets 
rather than in terminals, which poses logistical problems. In addition, drivers in separate focus 
groups mentioned instances of companies communicating with each other about the locations of 
inspection personnel to avoid inspections. 

State inspectors said that level II inspections (examination of a driver’s credentials and 
logbook and a walk-around inspection of the motorcoach) could be performed with passengers 
aboard the vehicle. However, federal safety investigators pointed out logistical challenges 
involving passengers if a driver is placed out of service. For example, passengers may have 
health problems and need adequate shelter and other facilities while waiting for a replacement 
motorcoach and driver. The FMCSA has asked Congress to permit en route inspections because 
of the potential safety benefits that could be achieved. 

Some motorcoach carriers engage in practices that make oversight difficult. Focus 
groups participants reported that some drivers make false claims that a bus conducts intrastate 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

52 

operations (which are not subject to federal oversight) when the bus actually conducts interstate 
operations. Another oversight challenge involves detecting reincarnated carriers. Repainting 
buses and placing company ownership in a relative’s name are common practices for 
reincarnated carriers. The FMCSA does not currently have a standard federal definition for a 
reincarnated carrier, so the agency has to apply each state’s definition for corporate succession, 
which creates problems for federal safety investigators. As stated in chapter 3, the FMCSA has 
asked Congress for authority to establish a uniform federal standard for determining whether a 
new entrant carrier has been reincarnated from a previous carrier with safety violations. 

Drivers participating in focus groups also discussed reincarnated carriers. The drivers 
used the term “ghost buses” to refer to motorcoaches that were simply painted white or black 
with minimal transportation information on the outside of the vehicle, which allows carriers to 
easily paint over a company name and DOT number with new information. From the window of 
the room where the focus groups were held, the drivers pointed out ghost buses (painted all 
white) to the NTSB staff conducting the focus groups. Some of these motorcoaches were 
operated by curbside carriers identified during this investigation. 

State inspectors and federal safety investigators said that some curbside carriers hold 
multiple DOT numbers and are able to transfer their vehicles and drivers after receiving bad 
safety ratings. The inspectors and investigators believed that this practice was more common 
among small low-cost carriers, many of which were considered to be curbside carriers. Vehicle 
identification numbers are currently not recorded unless a passenger carrier has been inspected or 
has received a compliance review, and inspectors would like to know these numbers sooner to 
help identify (using motor carrier names and DOT numbers) the carrier that is operating the 
vehicle. Federal investigators also said that an existing carrier might decide to reincarnate as a 
new company if its insurer were to raise rates or refuse to provide insurance (because of a 
less-than-satisfactory safety rating or multiple violations). 

Some motorcoach carriers are legally independent entities but may not be fully 
independent. There is no official term to describe a group of motorcoach carriers that have 
different names but are essentially managed by the same people, and state inspectors and federal 
safety investigators face challenges in dealing with these carriers. It is unclear how many 
motorcoach carriers that belong to the same company are actually classified as separate 
carriers.109

Some curbside carriers are difficult to contact. Federal safety investigators and state 
inspectors reported difficulties contacting some owners and/or managers of curbside carriers to 
schedule a compliance review due to incorrect addresses or telephone numbers provided by the 
carriers. In addition, investigators are not always certain that they are dealing with the actual 

 

                                                 
109 Motorcoach carriers have economic incentives for splitting into multiple companies with multiple DOT 

numbers. For example, adverse consequences to profitability resulting from accidents, safety violations, or 
less-than-optimal safety ratings can be limited to a relatively small part of a company. Also, small companies 
(defined as those with annual revenues totaling less than $8.7 million) have less stringent requirements for 
complying with the provisions of the Americans With Disabilities Act. For more information about the act, see ADA 
Guidelines for Over-the-Road Bus Companies, U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration, <http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/rules-regulations/bus/company/ada-guidelines.htm> (accessed 
September 23, 2011). 

http://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/rules-regulations/bus/company/ada-guidelines.htm�


NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

53 

owner and/or manager of the intended company, especially when the investigators meet with 
company representatives in restaurants and other nontraditional places. 

State requirements for motorcoach safety vary. The inspectors and investigators 
expressed concern that motorcoach operators could legally “shop” for state registrations. For 
example, one state requires two inspections each year and confirmation of insurance coverage, so 
some motorcoaches that operate in that state are registered in states with less stringent oversight. 
Also, the requirements for obtaining a CDL are weaker in some states than in others, which may 
lead to drivers shopping for CDLs. In 2011, the FMCSA issued a final rule to standardize CDLs 
among states, but this rule will not go into effect until 2014. 

New entrant carrier safety audits may have limited value. The inspectors and 
investigators indicated that the time between DOT operating authority and the first contact with 
the FMCSA (up to 18 months) was too long. During safety audits of new entrants, inspectors and 
investigators have consistently found violations, suggesting the need for earlier intervention. 
However, some enforcement personnel thought that a new entrant carrier needed sufficient 
experience before a safety audit would be useful. Safety audits are not as comprehensive as 
compliance reviews and may last only 4 to 6 hours. In addition, some investigators questioned 
the value of safety audits in their current form because they are similar to group educational 
sessions. The FMCSA has asked Congress to require new motorcoach companies to undergo a 
safety audit before they receive DOT operating authority.110

In addition, the investigators expressed concern about the relative ease of obtaining DOT 
approval for interstate passenger operating authority and the lack of knowledge of the FMCSRs 
required by new entrants. The cost to receive interstate passenger operating authority is $300, 
which is paid when the OP-1(P) form is submitted. Although passenger carriers can indicate their 
knowledge of the FMCSRs by signing a certification statement on the MCS-150 form, the 
investigators stated that the carriers often did not know the relevant regulatory requirements or 
misunderstood the requirements. 

 

The MCS-150 form is often submitted late and with inaccurate information. State 
inspectors and federal investigators were concerned that passenger carriers were not submitting 
the MCS-150 form every 2 years, as required. Further, the investigators indicated that 
MCS-150 form data, including contact information, were often inaccurate and that such 
occurrences were more common among curbside carriers. 

The information on the MCS-150 form (the number and type of vehicles owned or 
leased, type of operation, number of drivers employed, and annual mileage) is essential for 
assessing the accident and violation rates of passenger carriers and compiling the ratings 
developed for the SMS component of the CSA program. The FMCSA cannot compare safety 
risks of different passenger carriers without vehicle population measures or activity measures. 
Although the FMCSA can cite passenger carriers for not updating their MCS-150 forms, some 
investigators said that it is difficult to get this citation approved by agency managers. 
(Information from the FMCSA showed that citations for failing to update the MCS-150 form 

                                                 
110 U.S. Department of Transportation, Office of Public Affairs, “Obama Administration Has Stepped Up 

Action Against Unsafe Motorcoach, Trucking Companies,” press release, July 19, 2011. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

54 

were issued more often by some regions than others, with some regions issuing very few 
citations.) 

Some motorcoach carriers are more likely than others to violate rules. FMCSA 
investigators thought that smaller carriers, particularly those with only one or two motorcoaches, 
and new carriers were more likely to violate rules, including those for drug testing and hours of 
service. The investigators believed that large motorcoach carriers could not afford to operate 
illegally. State inspectors said that some motorcoaches that provided curbside service were not 
being maintained adequately. 

Fines for serious violations are so low that some motorcoach carriers may treat 
them as a cost of doing business. Investigators expressed concern that $2,000 fines would not 
deter motorcoach carriers from violating safety rules. The investigators thought that $10,000 
fines would get the attention of the carriers. 

The FMCSA does not have enough personnel to evaluate passenger carrier safety. 
As previously stated, compliance reviews are labor intensive and can take up to several weeks. 
Some motorcoach carriers have disorganized record-keeping systems, or an investigator can 
encounter hostility, both of which can prolong a compliance review. 

FMCSA headquarters staff provides state-based federal safety investigators with monthly 
targets for the number of compliance reviews to be completed by each investigator, which is 
typically about four reviews. There is some flexibility in meeting this target if a compliance 
review turns out to be particularly complicated and time-consuming; however, the investigator 
may be expected to complete more than four compliance reviews during the next month to meet 
the monthly target for the average number of compliance reviews. Investigators said that they are 
sometimes not given adequate time to perform compliance reviews and that they have been 
pressured at least once or twice by their managers to complete a review before they were ready 
to move onto their next assignment. 

Some federal investigators stated that they had a hard time keeping up with the rapid 
growth of the motorcoach industry, indicating that the FMCSA might only have one or two 
investigators assigned to a major metropolitan area with many passenger and trucking carriers. In 
addition, during interviews, state and federal enforcement personnel stated that there were not 
enough state inspectors and federal safety investigators to perform inspections and compliance 
reviews. The enforcement personnel indicated that many state and federal employee retirements 
are or will be occurring and that hiring at the state level is not keeping up with the number of 
departures partly because budget cuts have reduced the overall number of state inspectors. 

Voluntary safety reporting systems could be improved. FMCSA and state 
investigators indicated that they were more likely to get safety reports directly from motorcoach 
operators rather than through the National Consumer Complaint Database. The investigators 
stated that they would act on these reports if they determined that action was required. The 
investigators further stated that information on any actions taken might not be subsequently 
entered into the database. The investigators believed that more qualified personnel should be 
involved in reviewing complaints submitted to the database to determine whether the complaints 
were related to safety problems and which complaints might require immediate attention. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

55 

Safety Concerns Discussed by Motorcoach Drivers 

Drivers in focus groups reported difficulties getting sufficient sleep and working longer 
hours than those allowed by HOS rules. In addition, the drivers were concerned that motorcoach 
companies were hiring inexperienced drivers who were not provided with adequate training and 
preparation. The drivers stated that a CDL alone does not adequately prepare a driver to safely 
operate a motorcoach and spoke favorably of intensive mentoring before being allowed to 
operate a motorcoach on their own. 

The drivers said that many companies were not devoting enough resources to training, 
resulting in drivers having little to no experience with departure and destination areas, bus 
operations, traffic conditions, and inclement weather. The drivers attributed this lack of training 
and guidance to an insufficient number of company safety staff. 

Speeding and Motorcoach Safety 

The NTSB has found speeding to be a significant factor affecting motorcoach safety.111 
Heavy CMVs pose a high risk of death and injury to occupants of passenger vehicles involved in 
collisions with them due to the disparity in size and weight; speeding makes that risk even 
greater. State inspectors and FMCSA investigators in the focus groups also identified speeding as 
a safety problem in the passenger carrier industry. The criteria used to select motorcoaches for 
inspections and motorcoach carriers for compliance reviews now include speeding tickets. One 
study found that motor carriers that are in the 50th percentile or higher for unsafe driving 
performance, primarily because of speeding tickets, have a significantly higher accident risk.112

The number of motorcoach speeding tickets and the content of the tickets do not 
demonstrate the magnitude of the speeding problem. According to focus group participants, 
some police officers are reluctant to pull over motorcoaches when they are speeding because of 
safety concerns about having a large vehicle with passengers on the side of a road. (As 
previously stated, police officers will pull over motorcoaches if the officers think that an 
imminent hazard exists.) In addition, federal safety investigators indicated that speeding tickets 
are often not entered into the FMCSA database. For example, police officers who are not 
affiliated with the MCSAP have no mechanism for uploading a speeding ticket to the 
FMCSA database. 

 

Drivers in focus groups were questioned about their attitudes toward speeding and safe 
driving, and most drivers indicated that the decision about whether to exceed the speed limit 
depended on the environmental conditions and the traffic density. Most drivers thought that it 
was acceptable to drive 72 to 74 mph on interstate highways if the traffic was light. One driver 
said that his carrier strictly enforced a 70-mph limit. 

                                                 
111 For more information, see Motorcoach Run-Off-the-Road and Rollover, U.S. Route 163, Mexican Hat, Utah, 

January 6, 2008, Highway Accident Report NTSB/HAR-09/01 (Washington, DC: National Transportation Safety 
Board, 2009). 

112 P.E. Green and D. Blower. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

56 

Since the early 1990s, technology that can limit speed has been standard equipment on all 
vehicles with electronic control modules, including motorcoaches, large trucks, and passenger 
vehicles. On large trucks and buses, this technology is called a speed governor or a speed 
limiter.113 The owners of motorcoaches and other CMVs equipped with speed governors decide 
whether to voluntarily activate them and what speed should be the vehicle’s operating limit. 
Although speed governors prevent CMVs from exceeding certain speeds, they do not (1) prevent 
speeding in locations where the speed limit is substantially lower than the governed speed (such 
as urban interstates, where the speed limit is typically 55 mph), and (2) stop vehicles from 
exceeding the governed speed when traveling downhill.114

English Proficiency 

 

Participants in all of the focus groups and industry association representatives highlighted 
concerns about drivers and motorcoach company officials who could not communicate well in 
English. State inspectors from the northeast indicated that they frequently encountered drivers 
who could not communicate in English. These drivers could receive a violation because 
49 CFR 391.11(b)(2) requires that CDL holders have a basic understanding of the English 
language.115

The NTSB evaluated driver fitness violations from April 2009 to March 2011 and found 
that, for curbside carriers, 11 percent of the driver fitness violations were due to English 
language deficiencies. In comparison, for conventional and nonscheduled other carriers, 3 and 
5 percent, respectively, of the driver fitness violations were due to English language deficiencies. 
Regarding OOS orders associated with English language deficiencies, the contrast among 
curbside, conventional, and nonscheduled other carriers was even greater. Specifically, 
55 percent of driver fitness OOS violations for curbside operators were due to English language 
deficiencies, whereas the corresponding percentages were 11 and 23 percent for conventional 
and nonscheduled other carriers, respectively. Figure 12 compares these percentages. 

 

                                                 
113 According to the Ontario and Québec Mandatory Heavy Truck Speed Limiters Fact Sheet (Québec Ministry 

of Transportation, 2008), a speed limiter is an electronic device that connects to an engine and limits fuel injection 
when the vehicle reaches a preset speed, which can be set by a manufacturer, dealer, mechanic, or owner using a 
portable electronic tool. 

114 Intelligent speed adaptation is a technology being researched in Europe that could address these issues. 
Intelligent speed adapters prevent drivers from exceeding speed limits by using information from global positioning 
systems about speed limits on particular roads. The DOT announced that the FMCSA, NHTSA, and FHWA were 
jointly conducting a study to evaluate the benefits of speed control technologies that adjust vehicle speed to the 
posted speed limit.  

115 FMCSR section 391.11(b)(2) requires a driver with a CDL to “read and speak the English language 
sufficiently to converse with the general public, to understand highway traffic signs and signals in the English 
language, to respond to official inquiries, and to make entries on reports and records.” 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

57 

 

Figure 12. Distribution of Driver Fitness Violations and Out-of-
Service Orders Associated With English Language Deficiencies. 

State inspectors and federal safety investigators expressed concern during focus groups 
about the lack of English language skills among some owners and operators of curbside carriers. 
The inspectors and investigators related their personal difficulties in communicating with the 
owners and operators and cited the following examples: 

• During compliance reviews, translators are required for owners and operators who do 
not speak English. Translators provided by the carrier are often family members. One 
investigator said that an operator had taken his child out of school to conduct the 
translation for a compliance review. 

• Company records written in languages other than English make record review and 
evaluation virtually impossible. 

• Answering machine messages or services that are in a foreign language make it 
difficult for investigators to schedule a compliance review. 

These issues, although frustrating for investigators, are not illegal. Investigators stated 
that their major concern was that owners and operators with limited or no English language skills 
often violated regulations due to a lack of knowledge of the regulatory requirements. The 
investigators stated that a large part of their focus during compliance reviews of such carriers 
was educating them about regulatory requirements. Compliance rates were higher among carriers 
that had been in business for a longer time and had received prior interventions from the FMCSA 
or state enforcement personnel. 

11 

3 5 

53 

11 

23 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

Curbside Conventional Nonscheduled 
other 

Violation OOS violation 

Pe
rc

en
t 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

58 

Chapter 6: Conclusions 
Motorcoach safety is not a function of whether passengers are picked up and dropped off 

at a curbside or a terminal or how much passengers are charged for fares. Rather, motorcoach 
safety, including curbside motorcoach safety, is strongly influenced by the management of the 
carriers that own these vehicles and the drivers that operate them. 

This chapter provides the primary conclusions from the findings of the NTSB’s 
investigation of curbside motorcoach safety. Characteristics associated with curbside motorcoach 
operators, their safety performance compared with other motorcoach operators, and FMCSA 
oversight procedures have been described and analyzed. The effectiveness of FMCSA oversight 
procedures was assessed through data analyses, discussions with FMCSA management staff, 
focus groups with state inspectors and federal safety investigators, discussions with industry 
representatives, and observations of motorcoach inspections and compliance reviews. 

It is important to note that there is uncertainty associated with the identification of 
curbside motorcoach carriers because regulatory authorities have not developed a formal 
definition or category for these carriers. This investigation could not account for that uncertainty 
or for missing or inaccurate data from FMCSA data sources. The analyses conducted in this 
investigation accurately depict the results from the comparisons of the various motorcoach 
carriers defined in this report based on the data available from the FMCSA. Applying these 
results to different groups of motorcoach carriers would require additional categorization of the 
motorcoach carrier groups and new analyses. 

  



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

59 

Findings 

1. In general, curbside, conventional, and nonscheduled motorcoach carriers all provide a 
safe mode of travel. 

• Accidents among all types of interstate motorcoach services, including those applying 
the curbside business model, are infrequent. 

• Motorcoach occupant fatalities are uncommon. Most of the deaths in fatal 
motorcoach accidents are occupants of other vehicles. 

• In an accident, bus occupants have a lower risk of dying than passenger vehicle 
occupants. 

2. The term “curbside operations” represents a business model (that is, the means by 
which motorcoach service is provided) rather than a category of motorcoach carriers. 

• Curbside motorcoach operations are those in which interstate motorcoach carriers 
conduct scheduled trips from one city to another city or a destination and originate or 
terminate at a location other than a traditional bus terminal; most of these operations 
discharge passengers at one or more curbside locations. 

• Curbside carriers may also provide other services, such as conventional, commuter, 
shuttle, and unscheduled service (for example, charter and tour.) 

• Although curbside bus is a common term used by the public, the term is not a 
recognized regulatory or operational classification. 

• The Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) does not collect 
information about the types of terminals used and the routes provided by 
motorcoach carriers. 

3. The curbside business model is becoming increasingly popular and is being applied by a 
growing population of new and established interstate motorcoach carriers. 

• After years of declining ridership from 1960 to 2005, annual motorcoach service 
growth rates ranged from 5.1 to 9.8 percent between 2006 and 2010. 

• Large established motorcoach companies are now using the curbside business model. 

• At least 71 of the 122 scheduled motorcoach carriers identified in this investigation 
offer curbside service. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

60 

4. Motorcoach carriers with 10 or fewer motorcoaches and carriers that have been in 
business for 10 years or less have higher accident rates and higher roadside inspection 
and violation rates. 

5. Scheduled motorcoach carriers that have drivers and vehicles linked with other carriers 
(that is, their drivers or vehicles are listed in the inspection records for more than one 
company) are more likely to have higher accident rates. 

• Carriers included in the high accident rate category, as defined in the full report on 
curbside motorcoach safety, have a higher percentage (38 percent) of their inspected 
drivers linked to other carriers compared with 26 percent for the comparison 
category. 

• Carriers included in the high inspection and violation rate category have a higher 
percentage (40 percent) of their vehicles linked to other carriers compared with 
29 percent for the comparison category. 

6. Curbside carriers generally have higher fatal accident and death rates than other 
carriers not identified as providing curbside services; however, this finding does not 
apply to every curbside carrier. 

• The adjusted fatal accident rate for curbside carriers from January 2005 to 
March 2011 was 1.4 per 100 vehicles versus 0.2 per 100 vehicles for conventional 
carriers. 

• The adjusted death rate for curbside carriers during the same period was 1.9 per 
100 vehicles versus 0.2 per 100 vehicles for conventional carriers. 

• Curbside carriers represented 5 percent of all motorcoach carriers in the high accident 
rate category but comprised about 2 percent of all motorcoach carriers. 

• The safety record of individual curbside carriers varies, with some carriers having 
very good safety records and others having worse safety records. 

7. Curbside carriers generally have higher out-of-service (OOS) rates due to driver 
violations compared with carriers not identified as providing curbside operations; 
however, this finding does not apply to every curbside carrier. 

• Curbside carriers represented 6 percent of all motorcoach carriers with high 
inspection and violation rates but comprised about 2 percent of all motorcoach 
carriers. 

• Curbside carriers have higher fatigued driving and driver fitness violations compared 
with conventional carriers. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

61 

8. More than 90 percent of carriers in the high accident rate category and high inspection 
and violation rate category are neither curbside nor conventional carriers; rather, they 
are unscheduled carriers. 

• About 20 percent of the long-distance trips taken on buses occurred on scheduled 
motorcoaches, and about 80 percent occurred on unscheduled carriers. 

9. Motorcoach driver fatigue is a continuing safety concern. 

• The National Transportation Safety Board has identified driver fatigue as a 
contributing factor to fatal motorcoach accidents and has identified driver fatigue as 
an issue on its Most Wanted List of Safety Improvements. 

• By logging off-duty time between driving periods, motorcoach drivers may be 
allowed to drive even if more than 14 hours have elapsed since starting their work 
day. Drivers are required to have only 8 hours off duty. 

• Electronic onboard recorders would make it easier to detect and deter violations of 
hours-of-service driving limits. 

10. The FMCSA’s Compliance, Safety, and Accountability (CSA) program is an 
improvement over its SafeStat program, but challenges exist. 

• Unlike SafeStat, the CSA program includes information on driver behavior and all 
roadside inspection violations. 

• One of the major challenges to fully implementing the CSA program is that key data 
(for example, accidents, speeding citations, updated information on power units, and 
mileage) are incomplete or missing. 

11. The FMSCA has performed inspections and compliance reviews for a higher percent of 
curbside and conventional carriers during the last 5 years compared with nonscheduled 
other carriers. 

• About 96 percent of curbside, 98 percent of conventional, and 78 percent of 
nonscheduled other motorcoach carriers received an inspection, compliance review, 
and/or another evaluation during this time period. 

12. The statutory exemption of motorcoaches from routine en route inspections reduces 
opportunities to discover safety violations. 

• Curbside carriers have fewer locations where unscheduled inspections can be 
conducted compared with motorcoach carriers that use terminals. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

62 

13. A carrier’s safety performance cannot be assessed without inspections. 

• The CSA program requires that adequate data be collected through inspections or from the 
states (in the form of accident data or operator violation data) for a carrier to be evaluated. 

• If no data are collected for a carrier, then it cannot be easily evaluated using the 
CSA operational model. 

• Between April 2009 and March 2011, 8 percent of curbside carriers, 12 percent of 
conventional carriers, and 37 percent of nonscheduled other carriers did not have inspections. 

14. The information reported by carriers on the FMCSA’s MCS-150 form is not reliable. 

• Many motor carriers are failing to submit their MCS-150 form every 24 months, as 
required. 

• FMCSA regions are not uniformly following up with motor carriers that have passed 
their due date for filing a new form. 

• Motorcoach mileage data and other information are frequently inaccurate or missing. 

• These data are critical for determining violation and accident rates and comparing 
CSA safety indicators. 

15. The FMCSA’s voluntary safety reporting system is not meeting its full potential as a 
supplemental source of motorcoach safety information. 

• FMCSA managers indicated that the FMCSA does not have a formal program to 
incorporate voluntary violation or safety reports involving motorcoach operations into 
its CSA oversight program. 

• The FMCSA’s system lacks a component that allows for anonymous reporting of 
incidents. 

• The FMCSA does not generate summary statistics on the frequency and type of 
reports received. 

• It is unclear whether the FMCSA has evaluated the extent that passengers, drivers, 
and others are aware of methods for reporting safety concerns and whether the current 
methods are easy to use. 

16. The FMCSA’s evaluation of motorcoach safety performance is predicated on how an 
individual carrier compares with similar-sized motor carriers. This comparison grouping 
may not accurately measure the relative safety performance of motorcoach carriers. 

• The type of motor carrier operation (for example, passenger carrier, for-hire freight, 
and private carrier) is not considered in the comparison grouping. 

• Interstate motorcoach carriers are grouped with interstate freight carriers for safety 
performance comparisons. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

63 

17. FMCSA and state investigators are overburdened by the number of compliance reviews 
and inspections that need to be done. 

• A total of 878 FMCSA and state personnel are qualified to perform compliance 
reviews for all 765,221 U.S. motor carriers, resulting in a ratio of 1.15 investigators 
per 1,000 motor carriers. 

• There are 2,327 state and federal personnel who are qualified to conduct motorcoach 
inspections for the 53,097 motorcoaches for which the FMCSA exercises oversight. 
These state and federal personnel also are responsible for performing oversight of 
other types of motor carriers. 

• A thorough compliance review takes 1 to 2 weeks or even longer when motor carriers 
have 10 or more vehicles or have records that are not well organized. 

18. Bus brokers are stakeholders in motorcoach safety. 

• Curbside carriers use the services of bus brokers more than conventional carriers: 
72 percent of curbside carriers use online brokerage services or consolidated ticketing 
websites to sell their tickets compared with 22 percent of conventional carriers. 

• Brokers can often be the only information source available to consumers when 
purchasing a ticket. 

• Some brokers obfuscate information regarding individual motorcoach carriers, 
making it difficult for passengers to identify the carrier. 

• The FMCSA has no oversight or regulatory authority for organizations functioning as 
brokers for motorcoach services. 

• The FMCSA has asked for authority to regulate brokers. 

19. The FMCSA does not provide oversight of leasing agreements among interstate 
motorcoach operators. 

• The absence of a requirement for written leases for interstate motorcoach operations 
increases the likelihood that motorcoach owners, managers, lessees, operators, and 
customers could either intentionally or inadvertently participate in improper or illegal 
motorcoach operations. 

• The FMCSA stated that it would initiate rulemaking during 2011 to require that 
passenger carriers are subject to the same limitations on the leasing of equipment as 
interstate for-hire cargo carriers. 

20. It can be difficult for consumers to determine the safety record of a motorcoach carrier. 

• It can be difficult to interpret safety performance information presented on the FMCSA’s 
website. Scores are computed on a scale of 0 to 100 percent, with 100 percent indicating 
the worst performance and 0 percent indicating the best performance. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

64 

• The website does not permit direct comparisons of the relative safety of different 
motorcoach carriers. 

• The widespread practice of motorcoach carriers leasing vehicles and drivers from 
each other means that consumers often do not know what company will actually be 
providing motorcoach service. 

21. Speeding is an important indicator of unsafe operations. 

• Motor carriers that have a higher unsafe driving percentile (which primarily reflects 
speeding citations) are at an increased risk of getting into accidents. 

• The frequency of speeding is understated because some police officers are reluctant to 
ticket motorcoaches due to safety hazards and passenger inconvenience (resulting 
from having the motorcoaches pull over onto road shoulders). 

• A substantial number of speeding tickets do not get uploaded into the FMCSA’s data 
system because they are issued by officers who do not have access to the system. 

22. The process of becoming a new entrant carrier does not prevent unqualified carriers 
from transporting passengers. 

• The process to obtain a Department of Transportation (DOT) number and a motor 
carrier number does not require demonstration of safety and regulatory knowledge. 

• The cost to receive interstate passenger operating authority is $300. 

• The FMCSA has requested authority to conduct a comprehensive review of new 
passenger carriers before they start providing service. 

23. Some curbside motorcoach carriers are engaging in practices that hinder state and 
federal oversight of compliance with safety rules. 

• A curbside motorcoach carrier can hold multiple DOT numbers, operate under 
multiple names, and appear to be multiple companies. 

• Because selection for inspections and compliance reviews is influenced by prior 
violations and accident history, some curbside carriers spread violations across 
multiple DOT numbers, which hinders the ability of enforcement personnel to 
identify companies appropriate for oversight. 

• Falsification of logbooks is a problem for all motorcoach carriers, and curbside 
carriers are overrepresented in this area. 

• Among motorcoach carriers, curbside carriers received 20 percent of all false logbook 
violations and 26 percent of all false logbook OOS violations issued from April 2009 
to March 2011 but comprised about 2 percent of all motorcoach carriers inspected 
during the same period. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

65 

• Conversely, among motorcoach carriers, conventional carriers also comprised 
2 percent of all motorcoach carriers inspected from April 2009 to March 2011 but 
received 4 percent of all false logbook violations and 4 percent of all false logbook 
OOS violations during the same period. 

24. Reincarnated carriers that resume operations after getting unsatisfactory safety ratings 
are deliberately engaging in deceptive practices. 

• A reincarnated carrier is essentially the same entity as a former carrier with the intent 
of avoiding penalties applied to the former carrier. 

• Reincarnated carriers may attempt to transfer drivers and vehicles and keep operating 
under the same management after being placed out of service. 

• The FMCSA has a new applicant screening program to detect reincarnated carriers. 

• Each state has its own criteria for determining what constitutes a corporate successor, 
which are used to define reincarnated carriers. The FMCSA has requested authority to 
implement standardized criteria for reincarnated carriers. 

• FMSCA investigators and state inspectors reported concerns with reincarnated 
carriers, especially among curbside carriers. 

25. In many cases, FMCSA monetary fines for violations are too low to act as a deterrent, 
and motorcoach carriers may view the fines as a cost of doing business. 

26. States vary in the standards that they apply for vehicle inspections and commercial 
driver’s licenses (CDL). 

• Motorcoach carriers can register in a state with less stringent oversight even if their 
primary operations are located in another state. 

• Drivers can obtain a CDL in a state with less stringent requirements. 

• The FMCSA has issued a final rule to standardize CDLs among states, but this rule 
will not become effective until 2014. 

• States vary in how much oversight they exercise over motorcoach carriers. Some 
states have formal bus inspection programs. 

• FMSCA investigators and state inspectors reported concerns with motorcoach carriers 
choosing to register in states with less oversight, especially among curbside carriers. 

27. Curbside motorcoach carrier drivers are more likely to receive English deficiency 
driver fitness violations. 

• Eleven percent of driver fitness violations among curbside carriers were due to 
English language deficiencies compared with 3 percent for conventional and 
5 percent for nonscheduled other carriers. 



NTSB Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety 

66 

• Fifty-three percent of driver fitness OOS violations among curbside carriers were due 
to English language deficiencies compared with 11 percent for conventional carriers 
and 23 percent for nonscheduled other carriers. 

• FMCSA investigators and state inspectors expressed concern about the lack of 
English language skills among many curbside carrier management representatives. 
This deficiency, although not illegal, may lead to misunderstandings and violations of 
FMCSA regulatory requirements. 

3 

 

BY THE NATIONAL TRANSPORTATION SAFETY BOARD  

DEBORAH A.P. HERSMAN ROBERT L. SUMWALT  
Chairman  Member  

  

CHRISTOPHER A. HART MARK R. ROSEKIND 
Vice Chairman  Member  

 
 

 EARL F. WEENER 

 
Member  

Adopted: October 12, 2011 
 



 
  

 
 
 
                        

 
 

 
 

 
10.30.2012 

58.0%
42.1%

VEP Gender

Male

Female

42.1%
58.0%

Exclusion Period

Lifetime

2-Year

0.0% 1.9%

23.0% 24.8%

49.6%

0.7%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

NW NC NE SW SC SE

Lottery Region

0.0%
3.2%

14.8%

32.9%
30.0%

13.4%

5.7%

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 Older

Age of VEP

2 2 2 1 1 1 2
0

4
2

0 1

6
4 3

5
3 4

0
3 2 2

4
7

23
20

26

16
19 19 20

27 26 25

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

VEP Enrollments by Year

2010 2011 2012

Voluntary Exclusion Program  
January 2010 - October 2012 

Voluntary Exclusions = 283 
Violation Incidents = 25 (18 individuals) 

 

Voluntary Exclusions 
 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2010

2011

2012

African Am.
5.3%

Asian/P.I.
21.9%

Caucasian
60.4%

Lat/His
11.7%

Native Am.
0.4%

Other
0.4%

Ethnicity



 NOVEMBER
16 Commission Meeting - Dodge City

 DECEMBER
14 Commission Meeting

 JANUARY
18 Commission Meeting

 FEBRUARY
15 Commission Meeting

 MARCH
15 Commission Meeting

 APRIL
19 Commission Meeting

 MAY
17 Commission Meeting

 JUNE
14 Commission Meeting

 JULY
19 Commission Meeting

 AUGUST
16 Commission Meeting

 SEPTEMBER
13 Commission Meeting

 OCTOBER
18 Commission Meeting

November 2012 - October  2013

 Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission Planner

Dec 2012
S M T W T F S

1
2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15
16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30 31

Feb 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28

Mar 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28 29 30
31

Apr 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13
14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30

May 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4
5 6 7 8 9 10 11
12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24 25
26 27 28 29 30 31

Jun 2013
S M T W T F S

1
2 3 4 5 6 7 8
9 10 11 12 13 14 15
16 17 18 19 20 21 22
23 24 25 26 27 28 29
30

Jul 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13
14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30 31

Aug 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10
11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Sep 2013
S M T W T F S
1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14
15 16 17 18 19 20 21
22 23 24 25 26 27 28
29 30

Oct 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30 31

Nov 2012
S M T W T F S

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10
11 12 13 14 15 16 17
18 19 20 21 22 23 24
25 26 27 28 29 30

Jan 2013
S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5
6 7 8 9 10 11 12
13 14 15 16 17 18 19
20 21 22 23 24 25 26
27 28 29 30 31


	C.1. 2012-10-12 Minutes.pdf
	Kansas Racing and Gaming Commission
	Minutes – October 12, 2012

	F.1.b. Motorcoach Safety Report.pdf
	/
	Special Report
	Report on Curbside Motorcoach Safety
	National Transportation Safety Board
	/
	Contents
	Figures
	Tables
	Abbreviations and Definitions
	Executive Summary
	Chapter 1: Introduction
	Background
	Description of Curbside Operations
	Objectives
	Methodology
	Literature Review
	Data Analyses
	Development of Curbside Operators List
	Focus Groups of Motorcoach Inspectors, Safety Investigators, and Drivers
	Meeting With Curbside Motorcoach Operator
	Compliance Reviews and Motorcoach Inspections
	Meetings With Industry Associations

	Investigation Limitations
	Identification of Interstate Curbside Motorcoach Carriers
	Data Analyses
	Focus Groups


	Chapter 2: Motorcoach Operational Characteristics
	Motorcoach Travel Data
	Motorcoach Leasing and Brokers
	Leasing
	Brokers

	Motorcoach and Bus Accident Information
	Research on Accidents
	Previous NTSB Motorcoach Accident Investigations and Safety Recommendations


	Chapter 3: Regulatory Requirements and Oversight Procedures
	Responsibilities of Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration
	Compliance, Safety, and Accountability Program
	Measurement
	Evaluation
	Intervention

	Evaluation of Compliance, Safety, and Accountability Operational Model
	Compliance Reviews
	New Entrant Safety Assurance Program
	Funding for State Oversight of Interstate Motor Carriers
	Voluntary Safety Reporting System


	Chapter 4: Motorcoach Transportation Safety Data Analyses
	Methods
	Qualitative Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Type of Service

	Quantitative Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Accident and Inspection History
	Analysis Results
	Characteristics of Motorcoach Carriers
	New Entrant Safety Assurance Program
	Accident History of Motorcoach Carriers, January 2005 to December 2010

	Inspection History of Motorcoach Carriers, April 2009 to March 2011
	Compliance Reviews and Safety Audits, January 2007 to April 2011

	Classification of Motorcoach Carriers Based on Accident and Inspection History
	Operational Characteristics of Motorcoach Carriers With Substandard Accident and Inspection History
	Size and History of Carriers
	Type of Service Provided
	Linked Drivers or Vehicles

	Comparison of Accident, Inspection, and Violation Rates by Service Type


	Chapter 5: Curbside Motorcoach Transportation Qualitative Findings
	Motorcoach Driver Fatigue
	Concerns Identified by State Inspectors and Federal Safety Investigators
	Safety Concerns Discussed by Motorcoach Drivers
	Speeding and Motorcoach Safety
	English Proficiency

	Chapter 6: Conclusions
	Findings





